Homology modeling and structural analysis of the antipsychotic drugs receptorome.

Laura López Muñoz

DOCTORAL THESIS UPF / 2010

THESIS DIRECTOR:

Dr. Manuel Pastor (CEXS Department)



A Pedro y Emilia

Agradecimientos

Ahora que llego al final de la tesis, echo una mirada hacia atrás y veo a mucha gente que ha estado presente durante este pasaje y a la que me gustaría dedicarle unas palabras. En primer lugar, quería agradecer a mi director Manolo Pastor por brindarme la oportunidad de realizar esta tesis en su grupo. También agradezco el apoyo económico de Ferran Sanz y Jana Selent, así como el trabajo de la gente de Santiago de Compostela, sin los cuales esta tesis no habría sido posible.

Gracias a los compañeros de trabajo, que enseguida se convirtieron en colegas y en un punto importante en mi corazoncito. Gracias infinitas a todos por las cervezas, chocolates, koyaks, barbacoas, discursos filosóficos, reprimendas y consejos; Angel, Montse (graciñas por todo, soys geniales), Judith (una de les millors persones que he conegut), Tunde, Ricard, Oscar, Carina, Ferran, Fabien, Praveena, Anna Bauer, Ingo, Cristian, Albert, Pau, Nuria, Nikita, Agnieszka, equipo de Beach-volley....Una mención especial para Jana, quien se convirtió en mi supervisora y enseguida en confidente, y quien me ha enseñado mucho de lo que he aprendido durante estos tres años, tanto profesional como personalmente.

Me gustaría agradecer también a todos esos amigos fuera del PRBB que han estado en todo momento presentes, escuchando mis aburridas quejas, haciéndome reír, enseñándome lo bonita que es la amistad. Gracias infinitas por darme la vuestra: Imma, Anna M, Dani, Ali, Gore, Irene, Xavi, Mar, Picas, Maria, Oscar, Manu, Esther, Julien (te tocó aguantar la peor parte..) y otros tantos que me habré dejado por ahí.. Un agradecimiento muy especial para Carles (moltíssimes gràcies per les sessions birri-terapèutiques i per estar sempre a prop, ets un amic increïble) y para Meri (gràcies per tantes coses...ets meravellosa).

Finalmente, pero no por ello menos importante, quiero agradecer el apoyo y la paciencia de mi familia. Gracias Carlos por soportar a tu hermanita en los períodos críticos durante estos años, por tus consejos y por dejarme compartir contigo momentos maravillosos por todo el mundo. Y vosotros, papa y mama.... necesitaría escribir miles, millones de páginas para poderos agredecer todo lo que habéis hecho por mi, por haber estado siempre a mi lado, animándome, ayudándome en todo y sobre todo por aguantarme y comprenderme durante los malos momentos. Por eso quiero dedicaros uno muy bueno, el sueño cumplido de la tesis. A vosotros, porque os quiero mucho.

Abstract

The work of this thesis was focused on the study of the molecular mechanisms implicated in the multireceptor binding affinity profile of antipsychotic drugs. As the first step, we obtained homology models for all the receptors putatively involved in the antipsychotic drugs receptorome, suitable for building consistent drug-receptor complexes. These complexes were structurally analyzed and compared using multivariate statistical methods, which in turn allowed the identification of the relationship between the pharmacological properties of the antipsychotic drugs and the structural differences in the receptor targets. The results can be exploited for the design of safer and more effective antipsychotic drugs with an optimum binding profile.

Resumen

El trabajo de la presente tesis se ha centrado en el estudio de los mecanismos moleculares que determinan el perfil de afinidad de unión por múltiples receptores de los fármacos antipsicóticos. Como primer paso se construyeron modelos de homología para todos los receptores potencialmente implicados en la actividad farmacológica de dichos fármacos, usando una metodología adecuada para construir complejos fármaco-receptor consistentes. La estructura de estos complejos fue analizada y se llevó a cabo una comparación mediante métodos estadísticos multivariantes, que permitió la identificación de asociaciones entre la actividad farmacológica de los fármacos antipsicóticos y diferencias estructurales de los receptores diana. Los resultados obtenidos tienen interés para ser explotados en el diseño de fármacos antipsicóticos con un perfil farmacológico óptimo, más seguros y eficaces.

Preface

The classic model which compared a drug with a key and a pharmacological target with a keyhole assumes that the compounds with therapeutic effects exert their action interacting with a single biomolecule. Much on the contrary, the fast-growing volume of data in genomics, proteomics and systems biology depicts a far more complex scenario in which the biochemical mechanisms of diseases and therapies involve many different biological receptors. Schizophrenia is an example of complex disease, and clinical useful antipsychotic drugs are characterized by interacting with a wide range of receptors with different affinity, mainly G protein-coupled-receptors (GPCRs). Here we will present a detailed study based on close examination of known antipsychotic drugs and multiple receptors potentially involved in their therapeutic effects, in order to understand the mechanisms of the antipsychotic pharmacologic profile.

First, we will present our study on structural characterization of the receptor binding pockets, which required building comparable homology models for a large set of GPCRs putatively involved in psychosis treatment. Then we will show results of a comparative analysis of the receptorome binding site using novel methodologies, which link the molecular diversity of the structures under study with the available clinical data. Furthermore, we introduce our findings of the identification of regions and ligand-receptor interactions associated to the optimum multireceptor binding profile of antipsychotic drugs, which could be exploited for the design of improved antipsychotic compounds. In addition, we will report other particular applications of the obtained structures and models with relevance for the rationalization of diverse experimental results.

Table of contents

	Pàg.
Abstract/Resumen	vii
Preface	ix
Abbreviations	X11
List of publications	X111
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Paradigm Shift in Drug Discovery	
1.2. Schizophrenia	3
Simptomatology	4
Treatment	5
1.3 Pharmacological Targets for Schizophrenia's Treatment	7
The antipsychotic drugs receptorome	7
1.4. G Protein-Coupled Receptors (GPCRs)	9
General architecture of GPCRs	9
Functional microdomains of GPCRs	12
Extracellular surface of GPCRs	13
Ligand binding pocket of GPCRs	13
Activation process of GPCRs	16
Membrane environment of GPCRs	17
1.5. Computational Methods in Drug Discovery	l/
GPCRs homology modeling	
Docking simulations	
Molecular descriptors	
2D quantitative structure activity relationship studies	
Dringing component analysis	
Partial loast sayares	
GRID/CPC4 approach	
2. HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVES	29
3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
	41
4. PUBLICATIONS	
Publication 1	
Publication 2	
Publication 4	
Publication 5	
Publication 6	
I ublication o	
5. FUTURE WORK	117
6. CONCLUSIONS	121
7. REFERENCES	125

Abbreviations

5-HT _{1A}	Subtype 1A serotonin receptor
5-HT _{2A}	Subtype 2A serotonin receptor
5-HT _{2B}	Subtype 2B serotonin receptor
5-HT _{2C}	Subtype 2C serotonin receptor
5-HT ₆	Subtype 6 serotonin receptor
5-HT ₇	Subtype 7 serotonin receptor
ADA ₁	Subtype 1 alfa adrenergic recepor
ADA ₂	Subtype 2 alfa adrenergic recepor
D_1	Subtype D1 dopamine receptor
D_2	Subtype D2 dopamine receptor
D ₃	Subtype D3 dopamine receptor
D_4	Subtype D4 dopamine receptor
H_1	Subtype 1 histamine receptor
M_1	Subtype 1 cholinergic muscarinic receptor
M ₂	Subtype 2 cholinergic muscarinic receptor
M ₃	Subtype 3 cholinergic muscarinic receptor
M_4	Subtype 4 cholinergic muscarinic receptor
APD	Antipsychotic drug
β-AR	Beta-adrenergic receptor
CPCA	Consensus principal component analysis
EL	Extracellular loop
GPCR	G protein-coupled receptor
MIF	Molecular interaction field
PCA	Principal component analysis
PC	Principal component
PLS	Partial least squares
RMSD	Root-mean-square deviation
3D-QSAR	3D quantitative structure-activity relationship
ТМ	Transmebrane helix

List of publications

Articles:

• Comparative Structural Analysis of the Risperidone Receptorome Using GRID/CPCA Methodology.

López L, Bauer-Mehren A, Selent J and Manuel Pastor. (Manuscript in preparation)

• Synthesis, 3D-QSAR and Structural Modeling of Benzolactam Derivatives with Binding Affinity for the D₂ and D₃ Receptors.

López L, Selent J, Ortega R, Masaguer CF, Domínguez E, Areias F, Brea J, Loza MI, Sanz F, Pastor M. ChemMedChem 2010, accepted.

• A Novel Multilevel Statistical Method for the Study of the Relationships between Multireceptorial Binding Affinity Profiles and *in vivo* Endpoints.

Selent J, Bauer-Mehren A, **López L**, Loza MI, Sanz F, Pastor M. Mol. Pharmacol. 2010; 77: 149-58

• Synthesis, Binding Affinity and SAR of New Benzolactam Derivatives as Dopamine D₃ Receptor Ligands.

Ortega R, Raviña E, Masaguer CF, Areias F, Brea J, Loza MI, **López L**, Selent J, Pastor M, Sanz F. Biorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2009; 19: 1773-8

• Synthesis, Binding Affinity, and Molecular Docking Analysis of New Benzofuranone Derivatives as Potential Antipsychotics.

Aranda R, Villalba K, Ravina E, Masaguer C, Brea J, Areias F, Domínguez E, Selent J, **Lopez L**, Sanz F, Pastor M, Loza M. J. Med. Chem. 2008; 51: 6085-94

• Multi-Receptor Binding Profile of Clozapine and Olanzapine: A Structural Study Based on the New beta(2) Adrenergic Receptor Template.

Selent J, **López L**, Sanz F, Pastor M. ChemMedChem 2008; 3: 1194-8

Oral communications:

• Integrated Approach for the Multireceptorial Design of Antipsychotic Agents.

<u>Selent J</u>, **López L**, Bauer-Mehren A, Fernández C, Loza MI, Sanz F, Pastor M. XXth International Symposium on Medicinal Chemistry, August 31 – September 4, 2008, Vienna, Austria

• Multireceptor Profiling of Antipsychotic Drugs: A Structural Study Based on the New beta2-Adrenergic Receptor Template.

<u>Selent J</u>, **López L**, Pastor M. 22nd Darmstädter Molecular Modelling Workshop, April 29 – 30, 2008, Erlangen, Germany

• Combination of Direct and Indirect Approaches to study the D₂/5-HT_{2A} Selectivity of Antipsychotic Drugs.

<u>Bauer-Mehren A</u>, Selent J, **López L**, Sanz F, Pastor M. 22nd Darmstädter Molecular Modelling Workshop, April 29 – 30, 2008, Erlangen, Germany

• In silico Multireceptor Profiling of Antipsychotic Drugs.

<u>Selent J</u>, **López** L, Sanz F and Pastor M. III Congreso de la Sociedad española de Farmacogenética y Farmacogenómica, November 15 – 17, 2007, Santiago de Compostela, Spain

• Computational Modeling Supporting the Multireceptor Profiling of Anitpsychtotic Drugs.

Sanz F, Selent J, López L, Pastor M European Research Network in Pharmaceutical Sciences, 4th Annual Meeting, February 23-25th, 2008, Granada, Spain

Poster communications:

• Computational Docking Studies of Benzolactam Derivatives as Selective D₃ Receptor Ligands.

<u>López L</u>, Selent J, Ortega R, Masaguer CF, Sanz F, Pastor M. 27th Noordwijkerhout-Camerino-Cyprus Symposium: Trends in Drug Research, May 3-7 2009, Noordwijkerhout, The Netherlands

• Computational Support for the Existence of a Sodium Ion as Allosteric Modulator in G Protein-Coupled Receptors.

<u>Selent J</u>, De Fabritiis G, **López L**, Sanz F, Pastor M. 27th Noordwijkerhout-Camerino-Cyprus Symposium: Trends in Drug Research, May 3-7 2009, Noordwijkerhout, The Netherlands

• Consistent Homology Modelling and Comparative Analysis of the Antipsychotic drugs Receptorome,

<u>López L</u>, Selent J, Sanz F, Pastor M. XXth International Symposium on Medicinal Chemistry. August 31 - September 4, 2008, Vienna, Austria

• New Benzolactam Derivatives as Dopamine D₃ Receptor Ligands. Synthesis, Binding Affinity and 3D-QSAR.

<u>Ortega R</u>, Masaguer CF, Raviña E, Areias F, Dominguez E, López L, Selent J. XXth International Symposium on Medicinal Chemistry, August 31 - September 4, 2008, Vienna, Austria

• Multireceptor Profile of Atypical Antipsychotic Compounds.

<u>Selent J</u>, **López L**, Pastor M. Fifth European CCG User Group Meeting, October 8-11, 2007, Berlin, Germany • Binding Properties of Butyrophenone Derivatives with a Multireceptor Profile Similar to Clozapine.

Selent J, López L, Dezi C, Pastor M. 21st "Darmstadt" Molecular Modeling Workshop, May 15-16, 2007, Erlangen, Germany

"La ciencia no nos ha enseñado aún si la locura es o no lo más sublime de la inteligencia."

(Edgar Allan Poe)

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Paradigm Shift in Drug Discovery

The strategies used for discovery of new drugs have evolved in the history of mankind. The centenary Ehrlich's concept of producing highly selective compounds or 'magic bullets' has been cornerstone of most drug discovery. Indeed, this concept yielded notable successes, such as the selective cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2) inhibitors that exhibit favorable efficacy.^{1,2} However, as the pathogenesis of many diseases involves multiple factors, often unknown, selective single-target compounds tend to fail in the fight against multigenic and complex diseases.^{3,4} Thus, during the last decade we assisted a paradigm shift in drug discovery, which accounts for a wide awareness of the complexity of the phenomena involved in the therapeutic effects of drugs, and in which the focus on a single privileged target has moved to take into account that: (i) diseases pathogenesis are more complex than one single gen,⁵ hence several targets must be considered for the therapeutic effect of the drug,⁶ and (ii) the contribution of the drugs in other targets must be also considered (side effects).⁷

Unfortunately, the simple awareness of the complexity involved in multitarget prototype drugs does not help to obtain better compounds and there is a pushing need for methods able to identify the receptors that must be targeted by the drugs and the optimum activation profile. Probably the best approach to the problem is represented by system biology methods⁸⁻¹⁰ that provide a detailed description of all the relationships between the implicated biomolecules. However, because of the extreme complexity of the involved mechanisms, we will not achieve such detailed understanding for many important diseases, in the immediate future. Hence, an alternative approach is the analysis of the multireceptor binding affinity profile of known drugs for elucidating hints about the binding profiles associated to efficacy or side effects. With the application of structure-based methods, such binding profiles can be linked to ligand structural features that could be exploited for obtaining new drugs with higher efficacy and less undesirable effects.

Schizophrenia is a good example of complex and polygenic disease¹¹ for which the pathogenesis is unknown, even if available antipsychotic drugs (APD) have a proven clinical efficacy.

1.2. Schizophrenia

Schizophrenia (from the Greek "schizo", to tear or split, and from "phren", the intellect or mind) is a chronic, debilitating mental disorder affecting 1-2%

of the global population.¹² It has an average lifetime prevalence of $0.7-0.8\%^{13}$ and is associated with mortality rates two-three times higher than those in the general population.¹⁴

Simptomatology

The symptomatology of schizophrenia can be clustered into positive, negative and cognitive symptoms (Figure 1). Positive psychotic symptoms are the most prominent ones, involving an excess or distortion of normal function. These include auditory and visual hallucinations, paranoia, and other delusional states together with disorganized thought.¹⁵ Positive symptoms usually appear in late adolescence or early adulthood and are characteristically episodic. Negative symptoms involve a decrease or loss of normal function and include affective flattening, anhedonia, associality withdrawal and lack of motivation.^{16,17} The pathophysiology of negative symptoms is poorly understood¹⁸ and they remain a relatively treatmentrefractory and debilitating component of schizophrenic pathology.^{19,20} Cognitive impairments include deficits in attention, executive dysfunction and memory. These symptoms often begin before the presentation of any psychotic symptoms (during adolescence) and remain severe, with some progression, throughout the course of the disease.²¹ The pool of the symptoms in schizophrenia has a large impact on the quality of life of the people who is afflicted (leading for instance to unemployment, social isolation and suicides), which makes it a very costly disease for families and society.22,23



Figure 1. The complexity of symptoms in schizophrenia. Adapted from²⁴.

Treatment

Schizophrenia is a complex disease that depends on multiple genetic and environmental factors^{11,25} and after nearly a century of research, its etiology and patophysiology remain largely unresolved. However, it is treatable and pharmacological therapy often produces satisfactory results. The first drugs for schizophrenia, the so-called typical antipsychotics (Chart 1, compounds 1-2), were serendipitously discovered in the late 1940s with chlorpromazine, and their mode of action (blockade of postsynaptic D₂ receptor in the mesolimbic area) was elucidated retrospectively.²⁶⁻²⁸ However, treatments with these drugs were of little benefit for treating cognitive symptoms and were associated with the development of extrapyramidal side effects (EPS) such as dystonias, akathisias²⁹ and tardive dyskinesia (abnormal involuntary movements of tongue, facial muscles or limb muscles) in about 20% of patients.^{30,31}

The first drug to have a significant effect on negative symptoms was clozapine, synthesized in the 1960s.³² The clinical studies showed that clozapine was a significantly better drug in the treatment of schizophrenia regarding negative symptoms, aggression, social functioning, treatment resistance and suicide. Clozapine side effects did not include EPS³³ but in 1975 it was reported to produce eight deaths due to agranulocvtosis.³⁴ Nevertheless, following psychotic relapses in many clozapine-treated patients after being switched to other compounds, clozapine remained available for prescription under specific safety rules in several countries. In 1988 the superiority of clozapine over chlorpromazine in patients with treatment-resistant schizophrenia was reported.³⁵ This led to the approval of clozapine in the US in 1989^{32} as prototype of the second generation of drugs for schizophrenia, the so-called atypical antipsychotics, today also represented by drugs like olanzapine, risperidone, quetiapine, aripiprazole and ziprasidone (Chart 1, compounds 3-8). Clozapine is still considered to be the prototypic atypical antipsychotic 36,37 or "gold standard". In general, atypical antipsychotic drugs are characterised by improving psychotic symptoms of schizophrenia and preventing their recurrence^{38,39} having a lower EPS liability.^{40,41}

Many "clozapine-like" APDs have been reported to offer diverse benefits in schizophrenia treatment^{36,42,37,43} providing in particular a satisfactory treatment for positive symptoms of psychosis. However, these drugs appear to be associated with varying degrees of metabolic adverse effects, such as weight gain, impaired glucose metabolism, dyslipidemia and cardiovascular diseases.^{44,45} On the other hand, clozapine treatment is still associated to an increased risk of agranlulocytosis,⁴⁶ which strongly limits its therapeutic use

to treatment-resistant individuals. In addition, it is increasingly recognized that cognition is not appreciably affected by antipsychotic medication.



Chart 1. Structures of some typical (compounds 1-2) and atypical antipsychotic drugs (compounds 3-8) used for the treatment of schizophrenia.

All in all, the discovery of novel antipsychotic agents, more effective, able to augment cognitive function of the illness and free of side effects remains today a challenging research goal.

1.3. Pharmacological Targets for Schizophrenia's Treatment

The 'classical' dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia, proposed over 40 years ago, states that florid psychotic symptoms of schizophrenia are associated with exaggerated dopaminergic function in the central nervous system.^{47,48} This hypothesis arose from the fact that all effective antipsychotic agents block dopamine D₂ receptor. In 1989 Meltzer et al.⁴⁹ suggested that not only D_2 is implicated in the effect of atypical APDs, but also 5-HT_{2A} receptor. They proposed that a higher ratio of a drug's affinity for serotonin $5-HT_{2A}$ receptor relative to dopamine D₂ receptor could predict 'atypicality' and would explain the enhanced efficacy and reduced EPS liability of the second generation of antipsychotic drugs. This "Meltzer index" continues being used to discriminate and classify new compounds as "typical" (pKi ratio< 1.09) or "atypical" (pKi ratio > 1.12) agents and can be regarded as a first rough attempt of characterizing the complex multireceptorial binding profile of APDs. Nowadays, it is widely accepted that additional neurotransmitter receptor subtypes have a putative role in the effect of APDs (Figure 2), including other serotonin (5-HT_{1A}, 5-HT_{2C}, 5-HT₆ and 5-HT₇) and dopamine receptors $(D_1, D_3 \text{ and } D_4)$, as well as the histamine receptor H₁, muscarinic receptors (M₁, M₂, M₃, M₄ and M₅) and adrenergic receptors (ADA₁ and ADA₂).⁴² Emerging research in either academic and corporative environments has let the elucidation of other new target receptors for the psychosis treatment, such as metabotropic glutamate 5,50 alpha7 neuronal nicotinic⁵¹ and neurokinin-3⁵² receptors.

The finding that antipsychotic medications interact with multiple neurotransmitter receptors is consistent with the fact that such drugs have clinical effects beyond their antipsychotic efficacy. Consequently, a number of attempts, largely unsuccessful, have been made to develop APDs that target a single receptor without raising the risk of severe side effects associated with such multiplereceptor drugs such as clozapine. For instance, D₄-selective compounds,⁵³ as well as compounds with 5-HT_{2A}/D₄ antagonism,⁵⁴ are ineffective in treating schizophrenia.

The antipsychotic drugs receptorome

Kroeze K et al.⁵⁵ coined the term 'receptorome' to describe that fraction of the genome that encodes receptors, transporters and ion channels that can potentially serve as drug receptors, which probably constitute about 5% of the human genome.⁵⁶ Among them, the G protein-coupled receptors

(GPCRs) comprise a significant proportion of (estimated at 3.7%).⁵⁷ In this thesis we will use the term APDs receptorome to refer to the set of receptors potentially involved in the pharmacologic effects (either therapeutic or side effects) of APDs. All the members of the so-called APDs receptorome have in common to be part of the GPCRs superfamily, and includes the ones mostly implicated in the binding profile of the gold standard APD clozapine: the serotonin, dopamine, histamine, muscarinic and adrenergic receptor subtypes listed above.



Figure 2. Multiple molecular targets implicated in APDs actions (extracted from ⁴²).

1.4. G Protein-Coupled Receptors (GPCRs)

Members of the GPCR superfamily are diverse in their primary structure, and this has been used by various research groups for their phylogenetic classification. The one done by Fredrikson *et al.* showed that most of the human GPCRs can be found in five main families, termed Glutamate, Rhodopsin, Adhesion, Frizzles/Taste2 and Secretin (shortened to the acronym GRAFS). ⁵⁸ The Rhodopsin family is by far the largest and most diverse of these families, having around 600 members in humans, of which 65 are still orphans;⁵⁹ that is, their endogenous ligand is still unknown. The neurotransmitter receptors defined in the APDs receptorome are included among the Rhodopsin members.

General architecture of GPCRs

GPCRs are characterized by the presence of seven membrane spanning α helical segments separated by alternating intracellular and extracellular loop regions and an eighth helix (H8) which lies approximately parallel to the intracellular membrane (Figure 3). This overall architecture is highly conserved among GPCRs, despite of the often-limited sequence homology.⁶⁰ Nonetheless, Rhodopsin family of GPCRs contains a pattern of highly conserved residues on each of the seven transmembrane (TM) helices.⁶¹

To facilitate comparison of residues between receptors belonging to Rhodopsin family, Ballesteros and Weinstein⁶² proposed a generalized numbering scheme in which the number preceding the dot refers to the TM helix on which an amino acid resides. The second number designates the position relative to the most highly conserved residue among Rhodposin family, numbered 50. For example, 6.55 indicates a residue located in TM6, five residues carboxy terminal to Pro6.50, the most conserved residue in TM6 (Figure 3). All residues in this thesis will be indicated according to the Ballesteros/Weinstein numbering system.

The first insights into the structure of GPCRs came from two-dimensional (2D) crystals of bacteriorhodopsin,^{63,64} from which the basic seven-TM linked by loops was highlighted (Figure 3). In 2000, Palczewski and colleagues published the first crystal structure of a GPCR, solved at 2.8 Å: the bovine rhodopsin (PDB ID 1F88).⁶⁵ The crystal structure was further refined to a resolution of 2.6 Å (PDB ID 1L9H)⁶⁶ and 2.2 Å (PDB ID 1U19, Figure 4).⁶⁷



Figure 3. Secondary structure common to rhodopsin-like GPCRs. The conserved key residues (in yellow) are indicated according to the Ballesteros-Weinstein numbering.



Figure 4. Crystal structure of the bovine rhodopsin receptor (PDB ID 1U19) in complex with 11-*cis*-retinal (depicted in spheres).

The release of the crystal structure of the GPCR rhodopsin allowed improving some assumption about the structure and the organization of the GPCRs helices.^{65,68} The seven-TM helices have an anti-clockwise arrangement when viewed from the extracellular side, they have different lengths due to several kinks and bends and varying tilts with respect to the membrane surface. The conformation of bovine rhodopsin, as found in the crystal structure, is stabilized by a number of interhelical hydrophobic interactions and hydrogen bonds; most of them formed by highly conserved residues among rhodopsin-like GPCR receptors.

The difficulty of obtaining GPCR crystals made rhodopsin the only model for studying these receptors until 2007, when the development of a new technique for isolating GPCRs allowed the crystallization of the first human GPCR, the β_2 -adrenergic receptor (β_2 -AR).^{69,70} At the time of writing this thesis, the crystal structures of four GPCRs are available (Figure 5): human β_2 -AR bound to the high-affinity inverse agonist carazolol^{69,70} (PDB ID 2RH1) and timolol⁷¹ (PDB ID 3D4S), avian β_1 -AR bound to the antagonist cyanopindolol⁷² (PDB ID 2VT4), bovine rhosopsin containing the covalently bound inverse agonist 11-*cis*-retinal⁶⁵ (PDB ID 1U19) and the adenosine A_{2A} receptor, bound to the high subtype-selective antagonist ZM241385⁷³ (PDB ID 3EML).



Figure 5. Representative GPCRs solved to date. Each ligand is colored in orange and in green is shown the conserved toggle switch tryptophan residue (extracted from⁷⁴).

The four GPCRs structures have a similar overall architecture with an average C α root-mean-square deviation (RMSD) lower than 3 Å,⁷⁴ providing a good basis for homology modeling.⁷⁵ The comparison of GPCR structures and sequences reveals some conserved functional microdomains, which suggests common structural features and activation mechanism. On the other hand, as might be expected from the functional differences between the

receptors, the most significant structural divergences lie in the extracellular loops (EL) and in the ligand binding regions (Figure 5).

Functional microdomains in GPCRs

The comparison of the crystal structures reveals common functional structural features in the cytoplasmatic surface of the receptors:

- *E/DR3.50Y motif:* these amino acids are part of a hydrogen bond network linking DR3.50Y motif on TM3 and a glutame residue in TM6 (Glu6.30). This interaction, called 'TM3-TM6 ionic lock' stabilizes the inactive-state conformation of GPCRs.^{65,76} However, the analogous polar interactions in β_2 -AR, β_1 -AR and A_{2A} receptor are broken. In these structures, TM3 and TM6 helices are further apart and the salt bridge between Arg3.50 and Glu6.30 is absent, whereas polar contact between adjacent acidic and basic residues on TM3 (Glu/Asp3.49 followed by Arg3.50 of the E/DRY motif) is maintained in the four inactive-state structures (Figure 6a). This difference in the ionic lock interaction is a possible explanation to the fact that β_2 -AR, β_1 -AR and A_{2A} receptor generally have higher basal activity than rhodopsin.⁷⁷
- $NP7.50xxY(x)_{5,6}F$ motif: located at the cytoplasmatic end of TM7 (Figure 6b), it is functionally bipartite because provides two constraints:⁷⁸ Asn7.49 is part of a hydrogen bond network linking TM1, TM2 and TM7, whereas the Y(x)_{5,6}F submotif constraints TM7 with H8.
- *CWxP6.50 motif:* this motif is the basis of the so-called 'rotamer toggle switch' hypothesis. In GPCR activation, the rotamer states of Trp6.48 and Phe6.52 are coupled and changed during receptor activation, thus providing a link between the CWxP6.50 motif and shift of the cytoplasmatic part of TM6 helix⁷⁹ (Figure 6b).

Apart from the microdomains, there are also highly conserved residues such as Pro5.50, Pro6.50 and Pro7.50, which induce kinks in TMs, as well as a common disulfide bridge between Cys3.25 on TM3 and Cys187 of the EL2, connecting TM4 and TM5 helices.^{65,80} Structural and functional studies show that many of the conserved residues have (often in concert with structurally conserved water molecules) a dual role: they constrain the seven-TM bundle in its inactive conformation and are main determinants of the structural changes that occur on receptor activation.



Figure 6. (a) The ionic lock residues are shown for rhodopsin (blue), avian β_1 -AR (pink), human adenosine A_{2A} receptor (yellow) and human β_2 -AR (orange); (b) Residues corresponding to the NP7.50xxY(x)_{5.6}F and CWxP6.50 *motifs*.

Extracellular surface of GPCRs

The analysis of the extracellular regions in the representative GPCRs reveals a great deal of topological divergence⁷⁴ (see Figure 8). For instance the EL2 of rhodopsin forms a four-stranded β -sheet with additional interactions between EL3 and EL1.⁶⁵ The extracellular region of the β -AR is very open in comparison to rhodopsin and is characterized by a short helical segment within EL2 that is supported by limited interactions with EL1 and two disulfide bridges.^{69,70} The extracellular region of the adenosine receptor is highly constrained by four disulfide bridges and multiple polar and van der Waals interactions among the three loops.⁷³

Ligand Binding Pocket of GPCRs

Since we aim to study the structural characteristics that justify the observed differences in binding activity of APDs for several receptors, the analysis of the ligand binding pocket structure is a central issue.

Mutagenesis data^{81,82} and information extracted from the available GPCR Xray structures indicate that ligand binding pocket is located between TM3, TM5, and TM7 helices. However, subtle differences can be found in the ligand-binding pockets of the crystallized receptors (see Figure 8). In rhodopsin, retinal extends deep into the binding pocket and is covalently bound to the TM5/TM6 interface, where it is sandwiched between Phe5.47 and Tyr6.51, and interacts with the highly conserved Trp6.48, which as stated before is suggested to undergo key rotamer conformational transitions in GPCR activation⁷⁹ (Figures 7a and 8a). On the other hand, carazolol, which bears structural similarity to antipsychotic drugs, does not interact directly with the toggle switch on TM6 (Figures 7b and 8b). However, it interacts with Phe6.51 and Phe6.52, which form an extended aromatic network surrounding the Trp6.48. As a result, Trp6.48 side chain adopts the rotamer associated with the inactive state.



Figure 7. Ligand binding comparison between rhodopsin (purple) and β_2 -AR (orange), showing the residues involved in the toggle switch. (a) Superimposition of retinal (blue) in rhodopsin and carazolol (orange) in β_2 -AR; (b) Binding orientation of carazolol.

The recent elucidation of the adenosine A_{2A} receptor structure has shown that the ligand binding pocket can assume very different location to that of rhodopsin and β -AR. In addition to shifting to the interface of TM6 and TM7 helices, ligand ZM241385 binds to the A_{2A} receptor forming extensive interactions with EL2 and adapting a perpendicular position to the plane of the plasma membrane (Figure 8c). This shows that ligands of GPCRs may bind in quite distinct fashion, having different degrees of interaction with regions involved in known protein conformational switches.



Figure 8. Extracellular view and locations of bound ligands (in orange) for the structures of (a) bovine rhodopsin receptor; (b) human β_2 -AR and (c) human A_{2A} adenosine receptor. Trp6.48, the key residue of the rotamer toggle switch, is shown as reference.

Activation process of GPCRs

GPCRs respond to the binding of extracellular ligands (and other external stimulus) with a conformational change in the ligand binding site,⁸³ which extends via their seven-TM scaffold into the intracellular domain.^{84,85} Here GPCRs activate one or more of the guanine-nucleotide-binding signal transducing proteins (G proteins) that carry the information received by the receptor to cellular effectors such as enzymes and ion channels.⁸⁶ G protein are heterotrimeric proteins consisting of three subunits, commonly denoted as α , β and γ .⁸⁷ After GPCR activation, the conformation changes in the associated G protein α -subunit and leads to release of guanosine diphosphate (GDP) followed by binding of guanosine triphosphate (GTP).



Figure 9. Representation of the heterotrimeric G protein activation by GPCRs.

GPCRs can activate more than one G protein isoform, and recent evidence suggests that they can also signal through G protein independent pathways.⁸⁸⁻

⁹⁰ Moreover, ligands for a given GPCR can show different efficacy profiles for coupling to distinct signaling pathways.⁹¹ All this information accumulated during last years has changed the depiction of GPCRs as bimodal switches with inactive and active states⁹² to highly dynamic structures that exist in equilibrium between active (R*) and inactive (R) conformations, able to sample a continuum of conformations with relatively closely spaced energies.⁹³ Thus, the binding of an agonist ligand shifts this equilibrium toward R* and leads to the formation of a high affinity agonistreceptor (R*) – G protein ternary complex. Neutral antagonists maintain the existent equilibrium between R and R*, while avoiding the activation by the
agonist. Instead, inverse agonist reduces the basal activity of the receptor population, shifting the equilibrium toward R.

Membrane environment of GPCRs

GPCRs are membrane embedded proteins, and the role of the membrane environment on the protein structure and functionality should not be neglected. Indeed, the membrane constitutes a complex environment in which the interactions of lipids with the membrane-bound proteins are responsible for large part of its function.

Biological and biophysical studies have indicated that there is selective confinement of proteins (including GPCRs) in discrete regions of the membrane, called lipid rafts.⁹⁴ These raft regions are composed mainly of sphingolipids and cholesterol in the outer leaflet, somehow connected to domains of unknown composition in the inner leaflet.⁹⁵ For membrane proteins such as the GPCRs, lipid rafts are important because they provide a platform for the assembly of signaling complexes⁹⁶ influencing also their potency and efficacy in the signal transmission after activation.⁹⁷

1.5. Computational Methods in Drug Discovery

The process for obtaining a new drug is difficult, and consumes much time and resources.⁹⁸ Currently, computational methods are used in order to streamline drug discovery, design, development and optimization. In particular, computer aided drug discovery (CADD) is being utilized to identify active drug candidates, select leads (most likely candidates for further evaluation) and optimize them, i.e. transform biologically active compounds into suitable drugs by improving their physicochemical, pharmaceutical and pharmacokinetic properties. Strategies for CADD depend on the extent of available information regarding the target and the ligands. In this section we will describe most suitable computational methods for studying the APDs receptorome.

GPCR homology modeling

Even with the recent progress in GPCR crystallography, the structures available today represent only a small fraction of the GPCRs. In particular, there is still no crystal structure for most of the Rhodopsin family members and the GPCRs included in the APDs receptorome. Hence, one can infer their structure by computational methods, namely by building homology models.

Homology modeling has been extensively used to construct 3D models of Rhodopsin-like GPCRs, to examine receptor interactions with ligands, and to examine the effects of specific receptor mutations on receptor structure and/or ligand binding. Such receptor models play an essential role in providing hypotheses, which could be tested in protein engineering experiments.^{99,100} Homology modeling relies on the similarity between the sequence of the target protein and at least one known structure (the template)¹⁰¹ and is based on the general assumption that evolutionary related proteins conserved more of their 3D structure than their amino acid sequences. The modeling process is carried out in five sequential steps (Figure 10): (i) identification of known structures (templates) related to the sequences to be modeled; (ii) alignment of the sequences with the template and fold assignment; (iii) building of the model; (iv) optimization of the model (v) quality assessment and validation of the model.

The first crystal structure of a human GPCR, the β_2 -AR (PDB ID 2RH1) was released in late 2007 in its inactive state.^{69,70} The β_2 -AR shares a high sequence identity within the receptors we are interested in (up to 60%),¹⁰² and the available structure contains a non-covalently bound ligand, carazolol, which bears structural similarity to antipsychotic drugs. All these facts point to β_2 -AR as a good template for modeling the binding site of the antipsychotic drugs receptorome. In fact, although other crystal GPCRs structures have been solved lately, the most successful prediction methods of GPCR structures have relied on homology modeling based on the structure of β -AR as the template.¹⁰³

With respect to the first step (sequence alignment) diverse softwares, such as CLustal X,^{104,105} can carry out automatically the multiple sequence alignment of the sequences to the template. Nevertheless, generating models for proteins with less than 30% overall homology to the template often means that the alignment can be unreliable.¹⁰⁶ In this sense, GPCRs are a unique case, as the low sequence identity is compensated by a high structural similarity, namely the 7TM helices pattern (see section 1.4). Therefore, the key GPCR residues conserved in each helix can be aligned manually to generate good quality homology models, particularly within the TM

region.¹⁰⁷

The most widely applied software for homology modeling is MODELLER.¹⁰⁸ It uses the alignment of the sequence to be modeled with the template for calculating automatically a model containing all non-hydrogen atoms. The loop regions of GPCRs tend to be less conserved than the TM regions and are structurally diverse in the available GPCR structures, as described in section 1.4. Therefore, modeling of these loop regions constitues a more difficult task. The loops can be modeled with reasonable confidence if they bear similarity in length and conformation with the template. If not, it would be necessary to use fragment-search based or *ab initio* based methods¹⁰⁹ for predicting these loop conformations.

Geometrical optimization methods are then applied to refine the obtained models. These methods relax the structures and improve the side chains packing allowing to obtain a conformation corresponding to the nearest local minimum of a molecular energy function. The easiest geometrical optimizations (in term of simplicity of the model and time of the calculation) make use of molecular mechanical forcefield, which treats a molecule as a collection of atoms whose interactions could be described by Newtonian mechanics. Among the forcefields available, AMBER99¹¹⁰ is parameterized for proteins and nucleic acids and is widely used for the study of biomolecules. Several programs, like MOE (Molecular Operating Envionment), allow the application of such validated forcefields for energy minimization and molecular dynamics simulations.

The quality of the final models can be assessed with diverse tools, like PROCHECK,¹¹¹ which provides a detailed check on the geometry and stereochemistry of a protein structure (such as covalent geometry, planarity, dihedral angles, chirality, non bonded interactions, etc.).

All the GPCR template structures available when we started this work were in their inactive state. Modeling activated GPCRs is still an open problem as the structures are suspected to undergo large helical movement upon activation.¹¹² In addition, obtaining crystal structures of active GPCRs is very difficult. Nevertheless, recently the structure of opsin has been solved (PDB ID 3CAP),¹¹³ which correspond to one of the activated states in the rhodopsin activation cascade, and may open a door to activate state modeling.

Since the structures of the binding sites can be inferred by homology modeling, they can be used for prediciting the ligand-receptor interactions through docking simulations.

1. INTRODUCTION



Figure 10. Overview of the GPCR homology modeling protocol.

Docking simulations

Docking, as a computational tool, allows the investigation of the binding between receptors and potential ligands to form non-covalent protein-ligand complexes. In general it can be considered as an energy optimization problem¹¹⁴ with two components: the search and the score.¹¹⁵ The "search" is performed by exploring the conformational space accessible for the interaction between the two molecules, with the goal of finding the orientation and conformation of the interacting molecules corresponding to the global minimum binding free energy. Scoring functions are applied to evaluate tightness of interaction i.e. estimate binding free energy. The success of a docking algorithm predicting a ligand-binding pose is normally measured in terms of structural discrepancy (quantified as RMSD) between

the experimentally observed heavy-atom positions of the ligands and the one(s) predicted by the algorithm. The flexibility of the system is a major challenge in the search for the correct pose. The number of degrees of freedom included in the conformational search is a crucial aspect that determines the searching efficiency.¹¹⁶

In this thesis we used GOLD3.1.1 program¹¹⁷ for all docking simulations. It uses a genetic search algorithm and considers full ligand flexibility, as well as rotational flexibility for the protein-receptor polar hydrogen atoms. In the docking process, multiple conformations and ligand orientations are generated and the most appropriate ones selected using the scoring functions of the docking program. The obtained ligand-receptor complexes can be further refined using short molecular dynamics simulations; in this case a force field is necessary parameterized for small organic molecules, such as MMFF94x. The reliability of the docking results can be assessed by comparing key residues observed in the computed complexes with experimental results of site-directed mutagenesis.

Once models of ligand-receptor complexes are obtained, the description of their structures can be done in terms that allow a mathematical and statistical comparison. With this aim we needed to use suitable molecular descriptors.

Molecular descriptors

Molecular descriptors were developed in order to transform chemical information of the molecules into a numerical representation that can be manipulated mathematically. For the characterization of the potential interaction of a small compound with a receptor the most suitable molecular descriptors are the three dimensional (3D) descriptors called molecular interaction fields (MIFs).

Molecular interaction fields

Molecular interaction fields (MIFs) are continuous functions representing the energy of the interaction between a "molecular probe" and the compound studied in every point of the space. Even if analytic MIFs formulations are possible, they are often computed by sampling a closed space around the compound using a simple energy function. For MIFs calculation, a probe is moved at regular intervals within a 3D-box that surrounds the molecule or the regions to be studied, creating a grid of points, so-called nodes, at which the probe-compound energy of interaction is computed using a molecular mechanics energy function. As a result, the intrinsically continuous MIFs function is transformed into a discrete number of energies associated to defined x, y, z cartesian coordinates.

MIFs can be used in two ways: on proteins, for identifying the regions where a ligand could bind or on ligands, for describing the kind of interaction which the ligand can establish at the receptor binding site. The first application of MIFs computation to ligand design was described by Goodford in his pioneering work of and implemented in his program GRID,¹¹⁸ which was specifically designed to describe biomolecules for identifying energetically favorable regions where a ligand could bind (Figure 11a). Later on, MIFs have been applied for describing the ligands and their ability to interact with receptors, either individually (Figure 11b) or for series of compounds.

The rational for using these descriptors in the characterization of the receptorome binding site is based on the idea that the MIF are rich in information describing the ligand-receptor binding process. Therefore, the observed differences in the MIFs computed for the set of receptor binding sites, can be associated to changes observed in the binding affinities of the compounds. Similarly, the differences in the MIFs computed for active and inactive molecules can be associated to the changes observed in their biological activities. This is the underlying idea in the comparative molecular field analysis (CoMFA)¹¹⁹ and GRID/GOLPE¹²⁰ methodologies. In both cases, the comparison of MIFs computed in diverse compounds requires that these structures must be first superimposed in the space, in such way that the energies computed at the same position of the space could be directly comparable. This structural superimposition or alignment is not an easy task. When the compounds share common scaffold or evident pharmacophoric elements, it is feasible, but when they are structurally diverse or such common features are not that clear, the procedure is difficult and the results are often arbitrary. Moreover, the procedure is difficult to perform in an automatic way and usually requires intensive human intervention that limits the applicability of the method and also the size of the series to be investigated. For these reasons, GRID INdependent Descriptors (GRIND) were suggested as a new generation of MIF-based alignment-independent molecular descriptors, specifically designed to characterize ligand-receptor interactions.^{121,122} The GRIND method does not aim to capture all the information present in the MIF, but just to identify relevant regions of interaction and describe their relative positions. The latest generation of the GRIND, the so-called GRIND-2,¹²³ were developed for improving the quality, calculation speed and interpretability of the GRIND. GRIND-2 have been implemented in Pentacle software developed recently in our group,¹²⁴ which includes all the tools for their application in quantitative structureactivity relationship (OSAR) studies.



Figure 11. MIF calculation results for a receptor $(D_2 \text{ receptor})$ (a) and for a ligand (risperidone) (b) using DRY probe.

3D-quantitative structure-activity relationship studies

Quantitative structure-activity relationship (QSAR) is a set of mathematical and statistical techniques trying to correlate quantitatively structural molecular properties (molecular descriptors) with biological activity for a set of similar compounds (Figure 12). The empirical model obtained with these techniques describes the relationship between differences observed in the structure and the changes in the biological activity. It is important to emphasize that a QSAR model is not a mechanistic model, like the ones found in Physics or Chemistry. Such models are only possible for phenomena that could be described exhaustively, which is not the case in most drug discovery process. QSAR models belong to an inferior rank, the so-called empirical models that approximate the response of the system in a limited range of the variables involved.¹²⁵



Figure 12. Scheme of the process to obtain a QSAR model.

3D-QSAR methods are a subfamily of QSAR which make use of molecular descriptors in which the variables are linked to 3D coordinates, like MIFs. Very popular methods like CoMFA and GRID/GOLPE cited above are examples of 3D-QSAR methodologies.

Even if the MIFs are highly relevant descriptors, their use in 3D-QSAR has the drawback of producing a large number of variables (between a 10^4 and 10^6), difficult to handle and to analyze. In this case, the application of multivariate analysis techniques for extracting information and building regression models is compulsory. Among the most popular methods are the principal component analysis (PCA) and partial least squares (PLS) regression.

Principal component analysis

Principal component analysis (PCA)^{126,127} is a multivariate analysis tool for data supervision and dimensionality reduction that allows the discovery of trends in a set of objects defined by several variables. In few words, PCA is applied to a *X* matrix, where each row contains the variables (descriptors) representing an object (molecule). The result of the analysis is a summary of

the original matrix which can be used to describe the objects using a few, highly informative variables called Principal Components (PC). The underlying formula in PCA calculations is defined by equation 1.

$$X = 1 \cdot \overline{x'} + T \cdot P + E \qquad \text{eq.1}$$

where X is the object matrix, $1 \cdot \overline{x'}$ represents the variable averages, T is the scores matrix that contains information about the objects, P is the loading matrix that contains the weight of each variable in the model, and E is the residual matrix that contains the information not explained by the model.

PCs are extracted in such a way that the projection of the X matrix on the PC maximizes the sum of squares. Also, each PC extracted must be orthogonal to the previous ones, that is, each PC is completely independent to each other and there is no correlation between the information they contain. As a consequence, the first PCs condense much of the information present in the original X matrix and a 2D or 3D scatter plot of the first PCs clearly shows the types of objects, the presence of clusters, outliers, etc. On the other hand, the scatterplot or bar plots of loadings are useful to identify the variables that discriminate between the objects.

Partial least squares

Partial least squares $(PLS)^{128}$ is a regression analysis tool, which connects the information included in two blocks of variables, X and Y, to each other. It is used for building predictive models when the number of variables is much higher than the number of objects. In the context of 3D-QSAR the biological activity is used as Y variable. The function relating X with Y variables can be represented by equation 2.

$$Y = XB + G \qquad \text{eq.2}$$

, where *B* is the regression coefficient matrix and *G* a noise matrix. The *B* matrix can be split into three matrixes: the weights (*W* and *C*) and the loadings (P) of the model, ¹²⁹ as the next equation shows:

$$B = W(P'W)^{-1}C' \qquad \text{eq.3}$$

One of the problems of PLS regression models is the possibility to overfit, that is, to explain the noise present in the model instead of its underlying relationship. In order to avoid overfitting, the determination of the suitable

number of Latent Values (LV) cannot be done based on the quality of the fitting but on the predictive ability of the model. Ideally, such predictive ability must be evaluated using an external set, however the selection of an external test is not an easy task and in practice, the most common way to assess the predictive ability of the model is to use cross-validation. There are different cross-validation methods depending on how many objects are used in each interaction. Two examples are: Leave One Out (LOO), where one object is extracted from the model and predicted by using the model obtained with the whole set without itself, and Random Groups (RG), where a number of k groups of j objects are extracted randomly and predicted in front of all the remaining objects. Then the predicted Y values (y') are compared with the real Y values (y) in order to obtain a quantification of the prediction. Two metrics used for assessing the prediction are Standard Deviation of Error of Prediction (SDEP) and the predictive correlation coefficient (q²), defined by the following equations:

$$SDEP = \sqrt{\frac{\sum (y - y')^2}{N}}$$
eq.4

$$q^{2} = 1 - \left[\frac{\sum (y - y')^{2}}{\sum (y - \overline{y})^{2}}\right]$$
 eq.5

, where y is the real value, y' is the predicted value, \overline{y} is the average Y value, and N is the number of objects.

GRID/CPCA approach

The GRID/CPCA approach is based on the application of multivariate statistical methods to the MIFs obtained using GRID for a large set of proteins, allowing the identification of residues or regions most involved in the interactions ligand-receptor.¹³⁰ The method implies the superimposition in the space of the MIFs computed on the binding site of the modeled complexes in such a way that the energies computed at the same position of the space could be directly comparable. Then, the computed MIFs can be analyzed using chemometrical tools such as GOLPE,¹³¹ applying multivariate methods like PCA (described above) or consensus principal analysis (CPCA). The CPCA method uses exactly the same objective function as PCA providing information regarding the importance of the different probes in the analysis. However, CPCA is able to work with several protein targets allowing the generation of selectivity profiles between groups of targets. In the GRID/CPCA approach, the 3D structures representing the targets are

analyzed using GRID, but the MIFs obtained for the different probes are added, side-by-side, adding new variables to the same object. CPCA highlights then differences between the common features of the targets, which will conform obvious hot spots for the design of compounds with a unique profile.¹³² This methodology has been used previously for the analysis of diverse sets of targets, like human and bacterial DHFR¹³⁰ and serine proteases.¹³²

2. HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVES

Hypothesis

The most relevant pharmacological properties of antipsychotic drugs depend on their affinity binding profile towards a set of receptors (the so-called antipsychotic drug receptorome). Therefore, the comparative analysis of the receptorome binding sites and of the molecular mechanisms involved in ligand binding can provide useful information for the design of more effective and safer compounds, characterized by showing an optimum binding profile.

Main Objective

Main objective of this thesis was to build suitable structural models of all the receptors putatively involved in the antipsychotic drug receptorome and to carry out a detailed comparative analysis of their binding sites. In more detail, we can distinguish the following concrete objectives.

Concrete objectives

- 1. Obtain structural models for all the receptors included in the antipsychotic drug receptorome using homology modeling methods, in order to obtain comparable structures of the ligand binding sites, alone and in complex with relevant antipsychotic drugs.
- 2. Carry out a detailed comparative analysis of the receptor binding sites and connect the differences observed with the binding affinity profiles and the pharmacological properties of relevant antipsychotic drugs.
- 3. Further exploit the structural information obtained with the models for rationalizing observed experimental results of particular interest.

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

After the background and methodological introduction presented in the previous sections, here we will describe and discuss the results obtained in this thesis. A more detailed description of all outcome and the methods applied can be found in the publications attached in the next section.

Objective 1.

Obtain structural models for all the receptors included in the antipsychotic drug receptorome using homology modeling methods, in order to obtain comparable structures of the ligand binding sites, alone and in complex with relevant antipsychotic drugs.

The first objective of this thesis was to generate 3D homology models of some of the GPCRs putatively implicated in psychosis treatment. My work started by defining the receptorome set to model and by selecting the template. The selection was based on the multireceptor profile of clozapine, widely considered as a gold standard (described in section 1.3), and on the pharmacological data available. The set of receptors to study included the following GPCRs: dopamine (D₁, D₂, D₃ and D₄), histamine (H₁), cholinergic muscarinic (M₁, M₂, M₃ and M₄), adrenergic (ADA₁ and ADA₂) and serotonin (5-HT_{1A}, 5-HT_{2A}, 5-HT_{2B}, 5-HT_{2C}, 5-HT₆ and 5-HT₇) receptors.

The homology modeling of all these receptors was carried out using the crystal structure of the human β_2 -AR (PDB entry 2RH1) as the template. The receptor sequences were aligned with ClustalX^{104,105} introducing secondary structure information derived from the crystal structure and ensuring a perfect alignment of the highly conserved residues of the family A GPCRs. 3D models were then built using MODELLER¹⁰⁸ and optimized using AMBER99 force field¹¹⁰. The quality of the models was checked with PROCHECK software,¹¹¹ resulting in high quality parameters. The obtained models reproduced the correct orientation of the side chains for the set of highly conserved amino acids in the GPCR superfamily, in more detail the residues involved in the toggle switch (described in section 1.4). These residues were set to the "inactive state", being more consistent with the inactive state of the template structure (2RH1). Regarding the loops, we modeled them based on the conformation of the template.

We further validated our models through the construction of complexes with relevant antipsychotic drugs for the different studies. The drugs were docked using GOLD3.1.1 program¹¹⁷ into the binding sites of the modeled receptorome, defined by the conserved residue Asp 3.32, known to be important for ligand interaction.^{133,134} Afterwards, the complexes were refined by short molecular dynamics simulations and validated with

experimental mutagenesis data. Details of this part of work are described in **publications 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6**

Objective 2.

Carry out a detailed comparative analysis of the receptor binding sites and connect the differences observed with the binding affinity profiles and the pharmacological properties of relevant antipsychotic drugs.

The models I generated were subjected to structural analysis and their differences were connected with the binding affinity profiles shown by relevant antipsychotic drugs. Carrying out such analysis was far from being simple and required to develop a novel methodology for describing at diverse levels the drug-receptor interactions using multivariate analysis methods. In collaboration with other authors, such methodology was proposed and applied in publication 1 (A Novel Multilevel Statistical Method for the Study of the Relationships between Multireceptorial Binding Affinity Profiles and in vivo Endpoints). The method was based on the sequential building of multivariate statistical methods, such as principal component analysis (PCA) and partial least square (PLS) to describe the connection between *in vivo* observations, profiles of binding affinities for multiple receptors and structural information. The method was applied for studying the metabolic side effects of 25 APDs, detecting clustered receptors confirmed by experimental evidence found in literature. My contribution in the structural part of the study required the building and analysis of complexes of clozapine with the receptor binding site models interesting for this work (dopamine D₂, D₃ and D₄, histamine H₁, cholinergic muscarinic $(M_1, M_2 \text{ and } M_3 \text{ and serotonin } 5\text{-HT}_{1A}, 5\text{-HT}_{2A}, 5\text{-HT}_{2C}, 5\text{-HT}_6 \text{ and } 5\text{-HT}_7$ receptors). This analysis suggested that polar regions in TM5 and drugreceptor interactions involving hydrophobic residues in TM3, TM5 and TM6 were important discriminators between receptors associated to high metabolic side effects and those with low side effects. The results obtained emphasized the importance of a multireceptorial treatment and provided useful hints in our understanding of the therapeutic effect of APDs at a molecular level

Most of the APDs studied in the previous work were characterized by a long extended structure, which differentiates from the tricyclic scaffold of clozapine-like compounds. Thus, I choose risperidone as representative of the extended architecture for doing an extensive analysis of its binding profile. In this case the GRID/CPCA methodology¹³⁰ was used for carrying out a comparative structural analysis of the whole APDs receptorome

modeled in objective 1. The study started with obtaining a consistent superimposition of the binding sites of risperidone-receptor complexes, allowing the comparison of the MIFs computed on their binding pocket. The preliminary results obtained, detailed in **publication 2** (Comparative Structural Analysis of the Risperidone Receptorome Using GRID/CPCA Methodology, manuscript draft), unveiled a receptor clustering related to metabolic side effects that was in agreement with the outcome of the previous work. Furthermore, the analysis based on the MIFs suggested that hydrogen bond region at the extrem of the pocket comprising TM2 and TM7 was important for discriminating receptors associated to metabolic side effects from the ones that do not. Moreover, the obtained data indicate that the change in the pocket size due to positions 6.52, 3.37 and 3.33 was of relevance. All these findings complement the distinctive features suggested in the previous work, which are susceptible to being exploited for designing new compounds that lack features related to undesired side effects.

Objective 3.

Further exploit the structural information obtained for rationalyzing observed experimental results of particular interest.

The set of modeled receptors obtained in this thesis were a valuable resource on its own. During the thesis, and in collaboration with other groups, we exploited them for rationalizing the observed experimental data available for different compounds.

In a first application we focused on clozapine and olanzapine. Both are good examples of efficient APDs with a complex multireceptor profile, having affinities toward serotonin, dopamine, α -adrenergic, muscarinic, and histamine receptors, among others. In **publication 3 (Multireceptorial Binding Profile of Clozapine and Olanzapine. A Structural Study Based on the new** β_2 -Adrenergic Receptor Template) such modeled receptors were used for identifying characteristics of the complexes with clozapine and olanzapine that could explain their clinical behavior. In this work the models of the binding site of 5-HT_{2A} and D₂ receptors were submitted to a punctual comparative analysis for explaining the differences in affinity of both ligands for the same receptor, which pointed to position 3.36. The models were also used to explain the differences in affinity on both compounds for different receptors, which were described to be related to structural differences between clozapine and olanzapine together the diversity in both TM5 and TM6 helices.

We further applied the modeled receptors for studying experimental data available for new synthesized compounds as putative APDs. This part of work was made in collaboration with the Chemical and Pharmacological departments of Universidad de Santiago de Compostela, who provided the new compounds and their pharmacological activity evaluation.

The Pharmacology and Chemistry group synthesized a series of aminomethylbenzofuranones based on the idea to find a single molecule with balanced affinities for 5-HT₂ and the D₂ receptor families for the potential use as treatment for schizophrenia. With this aim, they obtained the binding activity of the compounds for D₂, 5-HT_{2A} and 5-HT_{2C} receptors and we were involved in the computational studies, as described in **publication 4** (Synthesis, Binding Affinity, and Molecular Docking Analysis of New Benzofuranone Derivatives as Potential Antipsychotics). My contribution in this work, in collaboration with other authors, consisted on rationalizing the differences in the observed affinities. We analyzed the 5-HT_{2A} and D₂ receptor complexes with representative compounds, suggesting the serine residues Ser3.36 and Ser5.46 as explanation for these differences. The results obtained provided new insights into the binding mode of ligands to the D₂ and 5-HT-_{2A} receptors and thereby contributed to this very active research area.

Besides 5-HT_{2A} and D₂, other receptors are included in the multireceptor profile of the antipsychotic drugs, as stated in section 1.3. Among them D₃ receptor seems to be another promising target. Following this idea, the Pharmacology and Chemistry group synthetized a series of new benzolactam derivatives as putative D₃ antagonists and evaluated their affinities at the dopamine D₁, D₂, and D₃ receptors. As in the previous collaboration, I contributed on providing validated complexes between some of the most representative compounds of this series and the D₂ and D₃ receptors in order to rationalize the experimental data obtained. The details of this work are fully described in **publication 5 (Synthesis, Binding Affinity and SAR of new Benzolactam Derivatives as Dopamine D₃ Receptor Ligands). The structural analysis suggested that polar residues in TM7 and hydrophobic residues in TM2 and EL2 act as modulators in binding affinity for D₂ and D₃ receptors. The analysis also revealed structural features of the ligands that seem to modulate D₃ selectivity versus D₂ receptor.**

With the aim of studying more in deep structural properties linked to the observed selectivity of the benzolactam derivatives in the preceding results, I proceed to investigate the relationships between their structure and their binding affinities in D_2 and D_3 receptors using both ligand-based (3D-QSAR) and receptor-based methods. All the compounds (the ones from the previous series and 12 new ones provided by the Pharmacology and Chemistry group)

were submitted to docking simulations into homology models of D_2 and D_3 receptors and the docked ligand structures were used to build 3D-QSAR. An extended description of this analysis can be found in **publication 6** (Synthesis, 3D-QSAR and Structural Modeling of Benzolactam Derivatives with Binding Affinity for the D_2 and D_3 Receptors). The 3D-QSAR results suggested some of the most influencing ligand features for D_3 selectivity, such as the adequate location of the benzolactam carbonyl oxygen. The rational analysis of the ligand-receptor complexes pointed to the presence of a hydrogen bond network in D_2 receptor, absent in D_3 receptor, as the explanation for the differences observed in binding. The data obtained improved significantly our knowledge of the structural diversity of the D_3 and D_2 binding sites that can be exploited for the designing of novel compounds for the treatment of schizophrenia.

4. PUBLICATIONS

PUBLICATION 1

A Novel Multilevel Statistical Method for the Study of the Relationships between Multireceptorial Binding Affinity Profiles and *in vivo* Endpoints

Jana Selent, Anna Bauer-Mehren, Laura López, María Isabel Loza, Ferran Sanz, and Manuel Pastor

Mol. Pharmacol. 2010; 77: 149-58

Selent J, Bauer-Mehren A, López L, Loza MI, Sanz F, Pastor M. <u>A novel multilevel</u> statistical method for the study of the relationships between multireceptorial binding affinity profiles and in vivo endpoints. Mol Pharmacol. 2010; 77(2): 149-58.

PUBLICATION 2

Comparative Structural Analysis of the Risperidone Receptorome Using GRID/CPCA Methodology

Laura López, Anna Bauer-Mehren, Jana Selent and Manuel Pastor

(Manuscript draft)

Comparative structural analysis of the risperidone receptorome using GRID/CPCA methodology

Laura López, Anna Bauer, Jana Selent and Manuel Pastor*

Research Program on Biomedical Informatics (GRIB). Universitat Pompeu Fabra. Dr. Aiguader 88, E-08003 Barcelona, Spain

We present a comparative structural analysis aimed to describe the pharmacological profile of risperidone, with potential application for guiding the design of antipsychotic drugs. It starts from a set of consistent structural models of the receptors implicated in risperidone activity. Then, the sequence and molecular interaction fields analysis

Introduction

Attempts to develop selective drugs for the treatment of schizophrenia have been frustrated by the complex etiology of the disease. Indeed, currently available antipsychotics, such as risperidone or clozapine, exhibit nanomolar affinities for several receptors, (mainly G protein-coupled receptors, GPCR) which would account for the particular efficacy/side effects of each of these drugs.^[1] This new paradigm in drug discovery expands the classical concept single target, by incorporating a whole collection of biomolecules the function of which must be modulated simultaneously.^[2]

Given the unknown etiology of schizophrenia, and the fact that gene-based methodologies to target identification and drug discovery have not resulted in the discovery of any of the currently used antipsychotics,^[3] the detailed study of the mechanisms of action of the current drugs in order to define their optimum binding profile constitutes an interesting alternative in antipsychotic drug discovery. In this respect, our group introduced recently a novel multilevel methodology^[4] which could be applied for the identification of the binding affinity profiles linked to relevant *in vivo* effects and which allowed to translate these findings affinity profile linked to antipsychotic metabolic side effects was associated with sequence changes in the binding site, using as a reference structures of the receptors with clozapine.

In the present work we are extending this method by applying a more sophisticated description of the receptor binding site based of Molecular Interaction Fields, and using as reference complexes of the receptor set with risperidone. Risperidone is a clinically useful antipsychotic, associated to weight gain side effects,^[5] which is probably more representative than clozapine of the chemotype shared by antipsychotics. Unlike the tryciclic scaffold of clozapine-like compounds, risperidone is structurally characterized by two bi-aromatic moieties (fluorobenzisoxazolyl, FB, and benzouracil, BU) connected by a flexible linker (Chart 1).

Herein, the aim of this work is to identify the structural differences between the binding sites of a set of receptors putatively involved in the antipsychotic effect of risperidone and link them to the binding affinity profiles identified in previous works and, indirectly, to observed pharmacological effects,

computed at the binding sites are compared using multivariate statistical methods. The results show an interesting receptor clustering which can be related with pharmacological effects, and which can be interpreted in structural terms by the presence of different hydrogen bond regions comprising TM2 and TM3-TM5.

including both side effects and characteristics of the pharmacological effects.



Chart 1. Chemical structures of risperidone and clozapine.

Results and Discussion

Risperidone docking into the receptorome binding site

The set of receptors putatively implicated in antipsychotic effects was selected as described in^[4], adding three receptor subtypes to the published set, 5-HT_{2B}, D₁ and M₄ (Table 1). Homology models for all of them were obtained based on β_2 -adrenergic structure^{[6][7]} and following a standardized protocol that was previously published in our group.^[8]

A first docking of risperidone into each receptor was carried out, hinting the binding pocked by the position of the Asp3.32, which is known to establish a charge-reinforced hydrogen bond with the protonated nitrogen present in aminergic ligands (like risperidone). In order to obtain a consistent arrangement of the side chains lining the binding site, we adjusted them to the ones in the template structure (PDB ID 2RH1) ^[6,7] and then re-docked the ligand in the refined pocket (see details in the experimental section). The first docking results showed that risperidone can adopt two major modes upon binding, which differ mainly in the 3D orientation of the fluorobenzisoxazolyl ring (FB): (1) directed towards transmembrane helix (TM) 5; (2) directed towards the extracellular loop 2 (ECL2). In both modes, the ligand cocupies the same pocket on the GPCRs, located in a region comprising TM2, TM5, TM6 and TM7 (Figure 1).

Table 1. Receptors used in this study				
Receptor	pK _i risperidone			
5-HT _{1A}	6.4			
5-HT _{2A}	9.4			
5-HT _{2B} ^[9]	7.5			
5-HT _{2C}	7.5			
5-HT ₆	5.8			
5-HT ₇	8.2			
D ₁ ^[9]	6.4			
D ₂	8.4			
D ₃	8.0			
D ₄	7.9			
ADA ₁	7.9			
ADA ₂	7.5			
H₁	7.9			
M ₁	5.2			
M ₂	5.2			
M ₃	5.1			
M ₄ ^[9]	5.3			
	ТМ7 ТМ6			



Figure 1. Two possible binding modes of risperidone. Mode (1) is shown in yellow; mode (2) in green.

Multiple ligand binding modes have been reported previously.^[10] In the works of Runyon *et al.*^[11] and Dezi *et al.*^[12], for example, they obtained ketanserin binding modes with different orientation in 5-HT_{2A} receptor which are likely to contribute to the observed affinity for the ligands. Thus, valid docked solutions with different orientation for risperidone could exist. Nevertheless, after adjusting the binding site sidechains, the most preferred pose was the one with the FB group oriented toward the inner part of the binding pocket (TM5-TM3), and it was selected as the most representative for our study.

Risperidone docks into the binding site defined by two subsites (Figure 2): the FB moiety is directed towards the region flanked by TM6 and TM7, marked with a strong aromatic character and the hydrophilic region between TM5 and TM3; the benzouracil moiety (BU) is stabilized mainly by aliphatic and polar residues in TM1, TM2 and TM7. This position is in agreement with previous docking results of ligands structurally similar to risperidone^[12,13] and mutagenesis data.^[14-16]

The consistency of the refined risperidone-receptor complexes obtained was quantified in terms of RMSD for the Calfa of the conserved residues located within a radius of 8 Å from



Figure 2. (a) Side chains lining the binding site of the 17 GPCR homology models. Riseperidone in the 5-HT_{2A} complex is shown as reference in yellow. (b) final docking positions of risperidone obtained for the 17 receptors. The structure of 5-HT_{2A} is shown as reference.



Figure 3. RMSD values for the C-alfa of the conserved residues lining the binding site of risperidone.

Sequence analysis: Principal properties analysis

The analysis of the principal properties of the residues lining the binding site of risperidone was performed using the same methodology described in Selent *et al.*^[4] The residues aligned around 8 Å of the ligand in the binding site, were extracted and described by their principal properties using 5 different descriptors^[17] representing charge, molecular weight, lipophilicity, as well as rigidity and flexibility. Subsequently, Principal

Component Analysis (PCA) was applied in the resulting matrix in order to discriminate the receptors in base on the properties of the residues.

The PCA scores plot reveals two clusters at both ends of the PC1 (Figure 4a): (1) muscarinic receptors and (2) the rest of receptors. According to the findings reported $in^{[4]}$ the first PC discriminates between receptors related to metabolic side effects of risperidone (cluster 1) and the ones which not (cluster 2). Regarding to PC2, the scores discriminates a cluster formed by 5-HT_{2A}, 5-HT_{2B}, 5-HT_{2C} (on top) from the rest of receptors. Interestingly, PC2 discriminates 5-HT_{2A} from D₂, two receptors included in the Meltzer index, which is used even nowadays for measuring the "atipicality" of the antipsychotic drugs.^[18]



Figure 4. PCA outcome of the principal properties analysis. (a) Scores plot results (b) Coefficient plots of PC1 and PC2; (c) Sequence alignment of the sequence positions highlighted in the analysis (left) and the depiction of some of the most representative in the risperidone-D2 receptor complex (right).

The loadings plot in Figure 4b shows the sequence positions contributing most to both PC. Of particular importance are positions 4.58 in PC1 and 3.22 in PC2. The residue 4.58 is situated in the outer part of TM4, quite far from the binding site crevice, and the residue 3.22 is situated at the extracellular surface of TM3 helix, also far from the binding site (Figure 4c). Thus, the description based on the principal properties analysis has highlighted residues that probably are implicated only indirectly in the discrimination between the receptors but not involved in direct interactions with the ligand. This is not surprising since the description based in principal properties are highlighted residues that probably are implicated only involved in direct interactions with the ligand. This is not surprising since the degree of sequence homology in the binding site is rather high and the description based in principal properties.

does not account for changes in the residues locations, only for sequence changes. Nevertheless, it is worth to mention that residue 4.58 has been reported to be implicated in the dimerization process of the receptors^[18] while 3.22 seems to be important for the coupling selectivity (binding of Gi/o protein)^[19], so both residues are potential hotspots for further studies. Therefore, in order to introduce a more detailed description of the GRID/CPCA methodology to the modeled complexes.

GRID/CPCA methodology

GRID/CPCA methodology^[20] describes potential interactions of the receptors by computing molecular interaction fields (MIF) at the ligand binding site and analyzing the differences observed for the diverse receptors.^[20,21] The MIFs were computed applying GRID^[22] using three probes, DRY, O, and N1, representing, respectively, a hydrophobic, a hydrogen bond acceptor, and a hydrogen bond donor group, on a grid cage which encloses completely the risperidone binding site. The so obtained MIFs were imported into the program GOLPE,^[23] pretreated and scaled as described in the Methods section, before using the consensus principal component analysis (CPCA).

The scores plot show two clusters, muscarinic receptors (cluster 1, associated to metabolic side effects) and the rest of receptors (cluster 2) separated by the loadings of PC1, whereas PC2 discriminates D_2 and D_3 receptors from the rest, mainly from 5-HT_{2A} and D_1 (Figure 5). It must be noticed that these results are rather similar to the ones obtained using the principal properties (Figure 4b). The CPCA results also signal the probe O explains 42.3 % SS and is the one which explains more variability in PC1 (Table 2).



Figure 6. CPCA Score plot result. PC1 can be used for discriminate between muscarinic receptors and the other ones, whereas PC2 discriminates between D_2 and D_3 receptors and the rest.

In this work we will focus on the analysis of the PC1, which seems to be clearly related with the receptors more linked to the metabolic side effects. Before starting the interpretation of the coefficient plots, the reader must be aware that the MIFs assign negative energy values to favorable probe-ligand interactions and positive values to unfavorable (repulsive) probe-ligand interactions. Positive field values represent mainly the molecular shape, while negative values represent regions where the ligand can make energetically favorable interactions with the binding site. For the interpretation of the results, we have chosen risperidone- M_2 and risperidone- D_2 complexes as representative cases for the clustering of receptors.

Table 2. GRID/CPCA results				
	Component			
%VarAccum ^[a]	1	2	3	
Total	16.71	22.11	26.35	
DRY	9.98	12.11	16.36	
N1	18.01	24.26	28.98	
0	20.55	26.31	30.45	
^[a] Accumulated percentage of X variance explain by the model				

DRY probe: The most negative values correspond to favorable interactions with muscarinic receptors in cluster 1. These are located in two small areas, one between the FB moiety and the piperazine ring, and a smallest one in the BU moiety (figure 7a). The superimposition of these regions in the binding site of M₂ receptors (Figure 7a, right) show that the residues implicated in the hydrophobic interactions are diverse tyrosine situated in TM3, TM6 and TM7 helices. Y7.39 and Y6.51 close the binding site allowing the FB moiety to make π interaction with Y3.33 and Y7.39 to make π interaction with the piperazine ring. Besides, Y2.61, situated in TM2, interacts with W7.40 and the backbone of T7.36, limiting the size of the binding pocket (Figure 8a). In cluster 2, the highest positive values for the hydrophobic interactions signal slightly different regions in the receptors. In this case, in position 3.33 there is a Val instead of Tyr, allowing a hydrophobic sandwich of FB moiety between V3.33 and F6.52. On the other hand, the BU moiety is stabilized by hydrophobic interactions with V2.61 and the residue in the ECL2 IIe182, giving the space necessary to the ligand for accommodating the carboxyl of the BU moiety towards TM7 where it can establish polar contacts (Figure 8b). Thus, the hydrophobic regions surrounding risperidone are important for discriminating between receptors, which is in agreement with previous work,^[4] and the change in binding pocket due to the presence of big aromatic residues (tyrosines in concrete) in TM2 + ECL2 + TM7 can be associated to metabolic effects of the antipsychotics.

O probe: Not surprisingly, the O probe overlaps some of the residues able to act as hydrogen bond donors in the receptors. Regarding to the negative loadings, a large region is found between TM6 (Y6.51, N6.52) and TM3 (S3.36, N3.37, Y3.33) in the receptors of cluster 1 (Figure 7b). According to the structural models, the FB moiety of the risperidone accommodates between Y3.33, Y6.51 and N6.52 residues, positioning the oxygen of the FB moiety towards residues N3.37 and S3.36, which can establish hydrogen bond interactions with the ligand. Interestingly, receptors in cluster 2 have at most one threonine in position 3.37 and a cysteine in 3.36, less suitable to establish hydrogen bond interaction with the FB moiety. Mutagenesis data^[24] corroborates the importance of these residues in ligand binding. With respect to the positive loadings corresponding to favorable interactions with receptors in cluster 2, there are two main positive regions located on the extremes of the ligand.



Figure 8. (a) Hydrophobic residues limiting the binding site of M_2 receptor and (b) the corresponding ones in D_2 receptor; for comparison, the position of risperidone in M_2 , is depicted in yellow stick.

Their superimposition to the complex of risperidone into D_2 receptor (Figure 7b, right) shows that one region is located near the positions 5.42, 5.43 and 5.46 in TM5 and 6.55 in TM6. Interestingly, most of the receptors in cluster 2 have a serine in 5.42, 5.43 and 5.46 positions, allowing more polar interactions with the FB moiety than muscarinic receptors, which have threonine in 5.42 position and an alanine in 5.43 and 5.46 (Figure 8d). This structural difference due to the nature of three residues on top of TM5 helix (5.42, 5.43, 5.46) was already described in the study of the binding profile of clozapine and olanzapine.^[8] Regarding position 6.55, most of the receptors have bulky residues that can act as hydrogen bond donors (eg. histidine, tyrosine, Figure 7d), whereas muscarinic receptors have a conserved valine. The 6.55 position has been previously reported to be important for the binding of agonists and antagonists at serotonergic and other closely related aminergic GPCR subtypes.^[25,26] The other region highlighted by the positive loadings is located around the BU moiety. This region does not appear in the negative loadings corresponding to the favorable interactions in receptors in cluster 1, being a clear difference between clusters. This region corresponds to residues W7.40, T7.39 and T7.36 in D₂ receptor. As described before, in receptors of cluster 2 the BU moiety accommodates between residues V2.61 and Ile182, stabilized also by W7.40. In this position, the carboxyl oxygen of the BU moiety can interact with T7.39 and T7.36. Previous work has shown the importance of these residues in modulating ligand binding^[27] corroborating the importance of these hydrogen bonds for discriminating receptors associated to side effects.

With respect to the **N1 probe**, overall regions of the N1 probe overlap with the ones of O probe since polar residues can act as hydrogen bond donors and acceptors, and no distinctive features is worth to be reported here.



Figure 7. Left, loading plots corresponding to the negative values (yellow fields) and positive values (blue field) corresponding to DRY probe (a) O probe (b) and N1 probe (c); Right, relevant residues. In blue, residues corresponding to D₂. In yellow, residues corresponding to M₂; (d) Alignment of the residues in the binding site of the receptors studied.

To summarize, the model stresses the importance of hydrophobic and polar interactions already described for clozapine^[4], like Y3.33, Y6.51, S5.42, S5.43 and S5.46, but adding some original information: (i) highlights the importance of the hydrogen bond donor regions at the extremes of the pocket, mostly the one comprising 2.65, 7.40, 7.39 and 7.36 positions, for discriminating receptors associated to metabolic side effects from the rest; (ii) the change in the pocket size due to the presence of asparagine in 6.52, 3.37 and 3.33 position would be related to side effects.

Conclusion

In this work we described diverse molecular characteristics discriminating the binding for different clusters of receptors involved in the effect of antipsychotics. The use of the principal properties identifies mainly sequence differences. On the other hand, the GRID/CPCA methodology provides further insight, including in the description the changes in the relative position of the residues and demonstrating to be a powerful method for highlighting the most relevant ligand-receptor interactions that discriminate between receptors associated to metabolic side effects and receptors that do not. Then, the simultaneous use of different approaches for describing antipsychotic drugs is essential to define their optimum binding profile, and the information extracted can finally be exploited for the design of compounds with less side effects.

Experimental Section

Numbering of residues:

For residues belonging to helix regions of the G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs), the generalized numbering scheme proposed by Ballesteros and Weinstein^[28] was used. For simplicity, the residues corresponding to the ECL2 have been numerated according to its position from the conserved cystein.

GPCR modeling and risperidone docking.

The structural models of the 17 GPCR used in this study were built using a standard homology modeling protocol based on the novel template of the B2-adrenergic receptor, which was previously published by our group.^[8] A molecule of risperidone was inserted in the binding site of all the receptors, using the docking software GOLD.^[29] Risperidone was docked into the active site of each receptor by defining a 15-Å region centered on the Asp3.32, a residue conserved in all aminergic receptors and known to be crucial for ligand interaction. A distance constraint between the Asp3.32 and the charged nitrogen was also defined. For adjusting the side chains of the binding site, we manually arranged them to be consistent with the ones in the template 2RH1. The resulting structures were subjected to energy minimization using the MMF94x force field in the molecular modeling program MOE (Molecular Operating Environment; Chemical Computing Group) and risperidone was docked again into the refined pockets using the same settings as before. To simulate an induced fit mechanism, the best docking solution was subjected to an optimization protocol. In a first step, a brief energy minimization of the complexes was carried out considering the receptor residues in an 8-Å radius around risperidone. The complex was further refined by means of a 200-ps molecular dynamics simulation (force field

Prinicipal properties analysis.

The aligned residues within a radius of 8 Å from the ligand were extracted and described using five amino acid descriptors:^[17] C7.4: charge as ionizaton state of AA side chain at pH~7.4; MW: molecular weight; CLP: lipophilicity; t1-Rig:rigidity; t2-Flex:flexibility). Subsequently, a principal component analysis (PCA) is applied in order to discriminate the receptors by the properties of these residues.

Principal Component Analysis

PCA is a multivariate analysis tool for data supervision and dimensionality reduction. The method has been described elsewhere.^[30] In brief, it computes an approximated lower dimension representation of the original data matrix X, in terms of the product of two matrices: the matrix of objects T (scores) and the matrix of variables P (loadings). In the matrix T, every object is represented by a small number of new variables (principal components), which are orthogonal linear combinations of the original variables, chosen to explain as best as possible the variance present in X. In this work we also applied Consensus PCA (CPCA), a hierarchical variant of PCA which uses the same objective function, but the analysis is made at two levels: the block level, which expresses the contribution of each of the blocks, and the superlevel, which expresses the consensus of all blocks.

GRID/CPCA methodology:

The structures corresponding to the best docking solutions were imported into GRID^[22] where MIF were computed for all of them using three probes (DRY, O, N1). All the MIFs were computed using a grid spacing of 1 Å. The analysis was made in a box of 27 x 25 x 25 nodes, containing 2148 energy measures per structure. The resulting MIF were then imported into program GOLPE 4.6.0^[23], and the X matrix of variables obtained was pre-treated before submitting to the CPCA analysis, first applying a zeroing of very small values (under 0.01), removing variables with small standard deviation (under 0.05), and ill-conditioned variables that take only two or three different values, one of which is assigned to a single compound. Afterwards a Block Unscaled Weight scaling was applied to the whole matrix to equalize the importance of the different blocks.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported in part by grants from the CICYT (Spain, SAF2005-08025-C03 and SAF2009-13609) and by the HERACLES (RD06/0009) and COMBIOMED (RD07/0067) RETIC networks from the Instituto de Salud Carlos III. GRIB is a node of the Spanish National Institute of Bioinformatics.

Keywords: risperidone · multireceptor profile · GRID/CPCA analysis · side effects · antipsychotic

- B.L. Roth, D.J. Sheffler, W.K. Kroeze, Nat. Rev. Drug. Discov. 2004, 3, 353-9
- [2] A.L. Hopkins, Nat. Chem. Biol. 2008, 4, 682-690.
- [3] M.J. Marino, L.J.S. Knutsen, M. Williams, J. Med. Chem. 2008, 51, 1077-107.
- J. Selent, A. Bauer-Mehren, L. López, M.I. Loza, F. Sanz, M. Pastor, [4] Mol. Pharmacol. 2010, 77, 149-158.
- J.W. Newcomer, J. Clin. Psychiatry 2007, 68 Suppl 1, 20-27. [5]
- [6] V. Cherezov, D.M. Rosenbaum, M.A. Hanson, S.G.F. Rasmussen, F.S. Thian, T.S. Kobilka, H. Choi, P. Kuhn, W.I. Weis, B.K. Kobilka, R.C. Stevens, Science 2007, 318, 1258-65.
- S.G.F. Rasmussen, H. Choi, D.M. Rosenbaum, T.S. Kobilka, F.S. Thian, [7] P.C. Edwards, M. Burghammer, V.R.P. Ratnala, R. Sanishvili, R.F. Fischetti, G.F.X. Schertler, W.I. Weis, B.K. Kobilka, Nature 2007, 450, 383-7
- [8] J. Selent, L. López, F. Sanz, M. Pastor, ChemMedChem 2008, 3, 1194-1198.
- M. Lapinsh, P. Prusis, S. Uhlén, J.E.S. Wikberg, Bioinformatics 2005, [9] 21 4289-4296
- [10] R.B. Westkaemper, S.P. Runyon, J.E. Savage, B.L. Roth, R.A. Glennon, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2001, 11, 563-566.
- S.P. Runyon, P.D. Mosier, B.L. Roth, R.A. Glennon, R.B. Westkaemper, [11] J Med Chem 2008, 51, 6808-28.
- C. Dezi, J. Brea, M. Alvarado, E. Raviña, C.F. Masaguer, M.I. Loza, F. [12]
- Sanz, M. Pastor, J. Med. Chem. 2007, 50, 3242-55.R. Aranda, K. Villalba, E. Raviña, C.F. Masaguer, J. Brea, F. Areias, E. Domínguez, J. Selent, L. López, F. Sanz, M. Pastor, M.I. Loza, J. Med. [13] Chem. 2008, 51, 6085-6094.
- M.R. Braden, J.C. Parrish, J.C. Naylor, D.E. Nichols, Mol. Pharmacol. [14] 2006, 70, 1956-64
- [15] J.A. Javitch, J.A. Ballesteros, H. Weinstein, J. Chen, Biochemistry 1998, 37, 998-1006.
- A. Mansour, F. Meng, J.H. Meador-Woodruff, L.P. Taylor, O. Civelli, H. Akil, Eur J Pharmacol 1992, 227, 205-14. [16]
- J. Gottfries, Chemometrics and Intelligent Laboratory Systems 2006, 83, [17] 148-156.
- W. Guo, L. Shi, J.A. Javitch, J. Biol. Chem. 2003, 278, 4385-4388 [18]
- T. Muramstu, M. Suwa, Protein Eng. Des. Sel 2006, 19, 277-283.
 M.A. Kastenholz, M. Pastor, G. Cruciani, E.E. Haaksma, T. Fox, J. Med. Chem. 2000, 43, 3033-44. [19] [20]
- M. Pastor, G. Cruciani, J. Med. Chem. 1995, 38, 4637-47. [21]
- [22] Grid 22; Molecular Discovery, Ltd., , London, U.K. 2006.
- [23] GOLPE 4.6.0; Multivariate Infometric Análisis, Perugia, Italy ,2003. [24] N. Almaula, B.J. Ebersole, D. Zhang, H. Weinstein, S.C. Sealfon, J Biol
- Chem 1996, 271, 14672-5. K. Wieland, H.M. Zuurmond, C. Krasel, A.P. Ijzerman, M.J. Lohse, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A 1996, 93, 9276-9281. [25]
- [26] K. Lundstrom, M.P. Turpin, C. Large, G. Robertson, P. Thomas, X.Q.
- Lewell, J. Recept. Signal Transduct. Res. 1998, 18, 133-150. L. Lopez, J. Selent, R. Ortega, C.F. Masaguer, E. Domínguez, F. Areias, [27]
- J. Brea, M.I. Loza, F. Sanz, M. Pastor, ChemMedChem 2010. [28] J.A. Ballesteros, H. Weinstein, in Receptor Molecular Biology,
- Academic Press1995, 366-428. [29] M.L. Verdonk, J.C. Cole, M.J. Hartshorn, C.W. Murray, R.D. Taylor,
- Proteins 2003, 52, 609-23. S. Wold, Chemometrics and Intelligent Laboratory Systems 1987, 2, 52, [30] 37.

PUBLICATION 3

Multi-Receptor Binding Profile of Clozapine and Olanzapine: A Structural Study Based on the New beta(2) Adrenergic Receptor Template

Jana Selent, Laura López, Ferran Sanz, and Manuel Pastor

ChemMedChem 2008; 3: 1194-8

Selent J, López L, Sanz F, Pastor M. <u>Multi-receptor binding profile of clozapine and olanzapine: a</u> <u>structural study based on the new beta(2) adrenergic receptor template</u>. ChemMedChem. 2008; 3 (8): 1194-8.

Supporting information to

Multireceptorial binding profile of clozapine and olanzapine. A structural study based on the new B₂ adrenergic receptor template.

Jana Selent, Laura López, Ferran Sanz and Manuel Pastor.

Research Unit on Biomedical Informatics (GRIB), IMIM/Universitat Pompeu Fabra,

Avinguda Dr. Aiguader 88, E-08003 Barcelona, Spain.

Email: manuel.pastor@upf.edu

Table of contents:

- 1. Numbering of Residues of the GPCRs (S2)
- 2. GPCRs homology modeling (S2-S3)
- 3. Docking simulation of clozapine and olanzapine in the receptor structures obtained (S3)

References (S4)

1. Numbering of Residues.

For residues belonging to helix regions of the G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs), the generalized numbering scheme proposed by Ballesteros and Weinstein^[1] was used.

2. GPCR Modeling.

In order to obtain comparable GPCRs models, we developed a standardized modeling protocol to ensure that the structural differences in our receptor models were not consequence of differences in the modeling methodology applied.

The sequence of the 14 GPCRs reported in Table 1 were retrieved from the Swiss-Prot database^[2] and aligned with the ClustalX software^[3, 4], using the PAM250 matrix and "gap open" and "gap elongation" penalties of 10 and 0.05, respectively. The resulting multiple sequence alignment was realigned with the crystal structure of the human ß2 adrenergic G-protein-coupled receptor (PDB entry 2RH1)^[5, 6] introducing secondary structure information derived from the crystal structure to avoid gaps within the seven helical segments. The alignment was then manually refined to ensure a perfect alignment of the highly conserved residues of GPCR superfamily, according to Baldwin et al..^[7]

Extension of each helix was contemplated by taking into account the experimental length of the 2RH1 helices and the sequence conservation. The conserved disulfide bond between residues C3.25 at the beginning of TM3 and the cysteine in the middle of the extracellular loop 2 (a feature highly common among GPCR receptors) was also created and kept as a constraint in the geometric optimization. 3D models were then built using the MODELLER suite of programs^[8], which yielded 15 candidate models for each receptor final structure (Table 1). From these candidates, the best structures according to the MODELLER objective function and to visual inspection were selected. Models with interruptions or gaps in the transmembrane regions, as identified by visual inspection, were discarded. The resultant structures of the receptors were optimized using the Amber99 force field^[9] using the molecular modeling program MOE (Molecular Operating Environment; Chemical Computing Group). PROCHECK software^[10] was used to assess the stereochemical quality of the minimized structures resulting in good quality parameters with an excellent distribution of Psi and Phi angles in the Ramachandran plot (over 90% of the residues are in the most favored regions). Also, the resulting models must reproduce the correct orientation of the side chains for the set of highly conserved amino acids in the GPCR superfamily 1^{11-14} , taking special care to the side chains of the high conserved residues F6.51, F6.52 and W6.48 which according to some authors^[15] are involved in the activation process. In the recent data published for 2RH1^[5,6], the co-crystallized partial inverse agonist carazolol

S2

interacts with F6.51 and F6.52, which form an extended aromatic network surrounding the W6.48. As a result, W6.48 side chain adopts the rotamer associated with the inactive state. Consequently, the conformation of these residues was set to the "inactive state", which probably is more appropriate for modeling the docking of antagonists and more consistent with the inactive state of the main template structure (2RH1).

3. Docking simulation.

Based on the 14 structural GPCR models obtained in the present study, the binding mode of clozapine and olanzapine with these receptors was explored using docking simulations with the GOLD3.1.1 program.^[16] The ligands were docked into the active site of 5-HT_{2A}/D₂ by defining a 15 Å region centered on the CG of D3.32, a residue conserved in all aminergic receptors and known to be important for ligand interaction.^[17, 18] The best docking solution, according to the scoring function of GOLD and mutagenesis data, was subjected to energy minimization using MOE. The complex was further refined in a 200 ps molecular dynamics simulations (force field MMF94x, 300 °K, time step 2 fs) and subsequently energy minimized by applying gradient minimization until the RMS gradient was lower than 0.001 kcal/molÅ.

References:

[1] J. Ballesteros, H. Weinstein Methods Neurosci. 1995, 25, 366-428.

[2] B. Boeckmann, A. Bairoch, R. Apweiler, M. C. Blatter, A. Estreicher, E. Gasteiger, M. J. Martin, K. Michoud, C. O'Donovan, I. Phan, S. Pilbout, M. Schneider *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2003, 31, 365-370.

[3] J. D. Thompson, T. J. Gibson, F. Plewniak, F. Jeanmougin, D. G. Higgins *Nucleic Acids Res.* **1997**, 25, 4876-4882.

[4] J. D. Thompson, D. G. Higgins, T. J. Gibson Nucleic Acids Res. 1994, 22, 4673-4680.

[5] V. Cherezov, D. M. Rosenbaum, M. A. Hanson, S. G. Rasmussen, F. S. Thian, T. S. Kobilka, H. J. Choi, P. Kuhn, W. I. Weis, B. K. Kobilka, R. C. Stevens *Science* 2007, *318*, 1258-1265.

[6] D. M. Rosenbaum, V. Cherezov, M. A. Hanson, S. G. Rasmussen, F. S. Thian, T. S. Kobilka, H. J. Choi, X. J. Yao, W. I. Weis, R. C. Stevens, B. K. Kobilka *Science* **2007**, *318*, 1266-1273.

[7] J. M. Baldwin, G. F. Schertler, V. M. Unger J. Mol. Biol. 1997, 272, 144-164.

[8] A. Sali, T. L. Blundell J. Mol. Biol. 1993, 234, 779-815.

[9] W. D. Cornell, Cieplak, P., Bayly, CI., I. R. Gould, K. M. Merz, D. M. Ferguson, D. C. Spellmeyer *J Am Chem Soc* **1995**, *117*, 5179-5197.

[10] R. A. Laskowski, M. W. MacArthur, D. S. Moss, J. M. Thornton J. Appl. Crystallogr. 1993, 26, 283-291.

[11] J. A. Ballesteros, A. D. Jensen, G. Liapakis, S. G. Rasmussen, L. Shi, U. Gether, J. A. Javitch J. Biol. Chem. 2001, 276, 29171-29177.

[12] C. Bissantz J. Recept. Signal Transduct. Res. 2003, 23, 123-153.

[13] D. A. Shapiro, K. Kristiansen, D. M. Weiner, W. K. Kroeze, B. L. Roth J. Biol. Chem. 2002, 277, 11441-11449.

[14] I. Sylte, A. Bronowska, S. G. Dahl Eur. J. Pharmacol. 2001, 416, 33-41.

[15] L. Shi, G. Liapakis, R. Xu, F. Guarnieri, J. A. Ballesteros, J. A. Javitch J. Biol. Chem. 2002, 277, 40989-40996.

[16] M. L. Verdonk, J. C. Cole, M. J. Hartshorn, C. W. Murray, R. D. Taylor *Proteins* 2003, *52*, 609-623.

[17] A. Mansour, F. Meng, J. H. Meador-Woodruff, L. P. Taylor, O. Civelli, H. Akil *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **1992**, *227*, 205-214.

[18] C. D. Wang, T. K. Gallaher, J. C. Shih Mol. Pharmacol. 1993, 43, 931-940.

PUBLICATION 4

Synthesis, Binding Affinity, and Molecular Docking Analysis of New Benzofuranone Derivatives as Potential Antipsychotics

Reyes Aranda, Karen Villalba, Enrique Raviña, Christian F. Masaguer, José Brea, Filipe Areias, Eduardo Domínguez, Jana Selent, Laura López, Ferran Sanz, Manuel Pastor and María I. Loza

J. Med. Chem. 2008; 51: 6085-94

Aranda R, Villalba K, Raviña E, Masaguer CF, Brea J, Areias F, et al. <u>Synthesis, binding</u> affinity and molecular docking analysis of new benzofuranone derivates as potential antipsychotics. J Med Chem. 2008; 51(19): 6085-94.

PUBLICATION 5

Synthesis, Binding Affinity and SAR of New Benzolactam Derivatives as Dopamine D₃ Receptor Ligands.

Raquel Ortega, Enrique Raviña, Christian F. Masaguer, Filipe Areias, José Brea, María I. Loza, Laura López, Jana Selent, Manuel Pastor and Ferran Sanz

Biorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2009; 19: 1773-8

Ortega R, Raviña E, Masaguer CF, Areias F, Brea J, Loza MI, et al. <u>Synthesis, binding</u> <u>affinity and SAR of new benzolactam derivates as dopamine D(3) receptor ligands.</u> Bioorg Med Chem Lett. 2009; 19(6): 1773-8.

PUBLICATION 6

Synthesis, 3D-QSAR and Structural Modeling of Benzolactam Derivatives with Binding Affinity for the D₂ and D₃ Receptors

Laura López, Jana Selent, Raquel Ortega, Christian F. Masaguer, Eduardo Domínguez, Filipe Areias

ChemMedChem. 2010; accepted

López L, Selent J, Ortega R, Masaguer CF, Domínguez E, Areias F. <u>Synthesis, 3D-QSAR</u> and structural modeling of benzolactam derivatives with binding affinity for the D2 and D3 receptors. ChemMedChem. 2010; 5(8): 1300-17.

5. FUTURE WORK

In this work we built 3D homology models for a set of receptors putatively implicated in the pharmacological profile of the APDs. It would be important for accurately predicting the key ligand interactions in GPCRs to refine the modeling of their structurally divergent regions, such as the extracellular loops. In addition, the static structural models obtained cannot help in understanding the growing body of experimental evidence on dynamic ligand-specific structural rearrangements at the receptor level. Therefore, a further step would be the use of molecular simulation methods including explicit representations of membrane and water, in order to gain information about the different receptor conformations stabilized by ligands. Furthermore, increasing evidence indicates that functional selectivity and conformational selection by small molecules at GPCRs is often associated with dimeric and oligomeric forms of the receptors. Thus, it would be interesting to extend the modeling process to receptor dimmers and oligomers.

Since the multireceptor profile of clozapine and other atypical antipsychotic drugs were described, new putative receptor targets have been elucidated, such as the metabotropic glutamate and neurikinine receptors, as stated in section 1.3. Thus, it will be interesting to expand the set of receptors putatively involved in the APDs receptorome and to apply to the new targets the homology modeling protocol and the comparative analysis approach.

Related to the multilevel statistical method developed, it could be improved including information from other approaches such as molecular interaction fields and mutagenesis data. Its applicability can be further extended for studying other *in vivo* effects than metabolic side effects, such as the cardiovascular effects or the therapeutic effects, in order to have a more complete view of the multireceptorial binding affinity profile of the APDs.

The rationalization of the observed experimental data for relevant APDs and compounds synthesized *de novo* have suggested some features in their chemical structure as possible modulators of their binding affinity to the receptors, as described in section 3. Further work is needed for checking if the proposals are correct. In the case of current APDs, scaffold-hopping tools can be applied to replace the significant parts of the structure with other fragments or scaffolds; regarding the benzolactam and butyrophenones derivatives, the compounds could be optimized with the suggested structural modifications and then evaluated experimentally their affinity. In addition, we plan to do, in collaboration with the Pharmacology and Chemistry group, mutagenesis experiments for validating the residues suggested to be involved in the differences of binding affinity in $5-HT_{2A}$, D_2 and D_3 receptors.

6. CONCLUSIONS

1. Homology models of the receptors putatively implicated in psychosis treatment (dopamine D_1 , D_2 , D_3 and D_4 , histamine H_1 , cholinergic muscarinic M_1 , M_2 , M_3 and M_4 , adrenergic ADA₁ and ADA₂ and serotonin 5-HT_{1A}, 5-HT_{2A}, 5-HT_{2B}, 5-HT_{2C}, 5-HT₆ and 5-HT₇ receptors) have been built and validated. The consistency of the modeling protocol makes the models suitable for comparative studies.

2. Complexes of the modeled receptors with diverse antipsychotic drugs (clozapine, olanzapine, risperidone) and with series of newly synthesized compounds with antipsychotic drug-like binding properties (benzofuranone and benzolactam derivatives) were built and validated.

3. A multilevel statistical method for identifying the multireceptorial profile of antipsychotic drugs associated to *in vivo* effects has been developed. At the structural level, the practical application of the method allowed the identification of regions and ligand-receptor interactions implicated in the discrimination between antipsychotic drugs that produce certain *in vivo* effects and those that do not.

4. The comparative structural analysis of 5-HT_{2A} and D₂ receptor models in complex with clozapine and olanzapine allowed proposing hypothesis about the binding site regions and interactions more likely to be responsible of the observed differences in the binding profile of the compounds.

5. The comparative structural analysis of 5-HT_{2A} and D₂ receptor models in complex with bensofuranone derivatives allowed proposing hypothesis about the residues which are likely to act as key modulators of their binding activity.

6. The 3D-QSAR models and the comparative structural analysis of D_2 and D_3 receptor models in complex with benzolactam derivatives allowed proposing hypothesis about the more important structural features modulating the D_2/D_3 binding selectivity.

7. The results obtained in this thesis emphasize the importance of a multilevel approach for defining the optimum binding profile of antipsychotic drugs and provide useful hints for the design of improved drugs.

7. REFERENCES

- Lau, L.; Hansford, L. M.; Cheng, L. S.; Hang, M.; Baruchel, S.; Kaplan, D. R.; Irwin, M. S. Cyclooxygenase inhibitors modulate the p53/HDM2 pathway and enhance chemotherapy-induced apoptosis in neuroblastoma. *Oncogene* 2007, *26*, 1920-31.
- (2) Johnsen, J. I.; Lindskog, M.; Ponthan, F.; Pettersen, I.; Elfman, L.; Orrego, A.; Sveinbjörnsson, B.; Kogner, P. Cyclooxygenase-2 is expressed in neuroblastoma, and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs induce apoptosis and inhibit tumor growth in vivo. *Cancer Res.* 2004, 64, 7210-5.
- (3) Keith, C. T.; Borisy, A. A.; Stockwell, B. R. Multicomponent therapeutics for networked systems. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 2005, *4*, 71-8.
- (4) Zimmermann, G. R.; Lehár, J.; Keith, C. T. Multi-target therapeutics: when the whole is greater than the sum of the parts. *Drug Discov. Today* 2007, *12*, 34-42.
- (5) Fishman, M. C.; Porter, J. A. Pharmaceuticals: a new grammar for drug discovery. *Nature* 2005, *437*, 491-3.
- (6) Hopkins, A. L. Network pharmacology: the next paradigm in drug discovery. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 2008, *4*, 682-90.
- (7) Kong, D.; Li, X.; Zhang, H. Where is the hope for drug discorery? Let history tell the future. *Drug Discov. Today* 2009, *14*, 115-9.
- (8) Kitano, H. Computational systems biology. *Nature* 2002, *420*, 206-10.
- (9) Butcher, E. C.; Berg, E. L.; Kunkel, E. J. Systems biology in drug discovery. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 2004, *22*, 1253-9.
- (10) Keskin, O.; Gursoy, A.; Ma, B.; Nussinov, R. Towards drugs targeting multiple proteins in a systems biology approach. *Curr. Top. Med. Chem.* 2007, *7*, 943-51.
- (11) Harrison, P. J.; Owen, M. J. Genes for schizophrenia? Recent findings and their pathophysiological implications. *Lancet* 2003, *361*, 417-9.
- (12) McGrath, J.; Saha, S.; Welham, J.; El Saadi, O.; MacCauley, C.; Chant, D. A systematic review of the incidence of schizophrenia: the distribution of rates and the influence of sex, urbanicity, migrant status and methodology. *BMC Med.* 2004, *2*, 13.
- (13) Saha, S.; Chant, D.; Welham, J.; McGrath, J. A systematic review of the prevalence of schizophrenia. *PLoS Med.* 2005, *2*, e141.
- (14) Auquier, P.; Lançon, C.; Rouillon, F.; Lader, M.; Holmes, C. Mortality in schizophrenia. *Pharmacoepidemiol. Drug Saf.* 2006, *15*, 873-9.
- (15) Mellor, C. S. First rank symptoms of schizophrenia. I. The frequency in schizophrenics on admission to hospital. II. Differences between individual first rank symptoms. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 1970, *117*, 15-23.
- (16) Crow, T. J. Positive and negative schizophrenic symptoms and the role

of dopamine. Br. J. Psychiatry 1980, 137, 383-6.

- (17) Andreasen, N. C.; Olsen, S. Negative v positive schizophrenia. Definition and validation. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 1982, *39*, 789-94.
- (18) Keshavan, M. S.; Tandon, R.; Boutros, N. N.; Nasrallah, H. A. Schizophrenia, "just the facts": what we know in 2008 Part 3: neurobiology. *Schizophr. Res.* 2008, *106*, 89-107.
- (19) Erhart, S. M.; Marder, S. R.; Carpenter, W. T. Treatment of schizophrenia negative symptoms: future prospects. *Schizophr. Bull.* 2006, *32*, 234-7.
- (20) Stahl, S. M.; Buckley, P. F. Negative symptoms of schizophrenia: a problem that will not go away. *Acta Psychiatr. Scand.* 2007, *115*, 4-11.
- (21) Green, M. F. Stimulating the development of drug treatments to improve cognition in schizophrenia. *Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol.* 2007, *3*, 159-80.
- (22) Murray, R. M.; Lappin, J.; Di Forti, M. Schizophrenia: from developmental deviance to dopamine dysregulation. *Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 2008, *18 Suppl 3*, S129-34.
- (23) Mauskopf, J.; Muroff, M.; Gibson, P. J.; Grainger, D. L. Estimating the costs and benefits of new drug therapies: atypical antipsychotic drugs for schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Bull.* 2002, *28*, 619-35.
- (24) Conn, P. J.; Tamminga, C.; Schoepp, D. D.; Lindsley, C. Schizophrenia: moving beyond monoamine antagonists. *Mol. Interv.* 2008, *8*, 99-107.
- (25) Altar, C. A.; Vawter, M. P.; Ginsberg, S. D. Target identification for CNS diseases by transcriptional profiling. *Neuropsychopharmacol.* 2009, 34, 18-54.
- (26) Creese, I.; Burt, D. R.; Snyder, S. H. Dopamine receptor binding predicts clinical and pharmacological potencies of antischizophrenic drugs. *Science* 1976, *192*, 481-3.
- (27) Seeman, P. Dopamine receptors and the dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia. *Synapse* 1987, *1*, 133-52.
- (28) Seeman, P.; Lee, T.; Chau-Wong, M.; Wong, K. Antipsychotic drug doses and neuroleptic/dopamine receptors. *Nature* 1976, *261*, 717-9.
- (29) Lingjaerde, O. Benzodiazepines in the treatment of schizophrenia: an updated survey. *Acta Psychiatr. Scand.* 1991, *84*, 453-9.
- (30) Cassens, G.; Inglis, A. K.; Appelbaum, P. S.; Gutheil, T. G. Neuroleptics: effects on neuropsychological function in chronic schizophrenic patients. *Schizophr. Bull.* 1990, *16*, 477-99.
- (31) Medalia, A.; Gold, J.; Merriam, A. The effects of neuroleptics on neuropsychological test results of schizophrenics. *Arch. Clin. Neuropsychol.* 1988, *3*, 249-71.

- (32) Hippius, H. The history of clozapine. *Psychopharmacol. (Berl.)* 1989, *99 Suppl*, S3-5.
- (33) Meltzer, H. Multiple-outcome criteria in schizophrenia: an overview of outcome with clozapine. *Eur. Psychiatry* 1995, *10 Suppl 1*, 19s-25s.
- (34) Gross, H.; Hackl, H.; Kaltenbaeck, E. Results of a double-blind comparison of clozapine and thioridazine. *VIIth CINP Congress* 1970, *August 11–15*.
- (35) Kane, J.; Honigfeld, G.; Singer, J.; Meltzer, H. Clozapine for the treatment-resistant schizophrenic. A double-blind comparison with chlorpromazine. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 1988, *45*, 789-96.
- (36) Miyamoto, S.; Duncan, G. E.; Marx, C. E.; Lieberman, J. A. Treatments for schizophrenia: a critical review of pharmacology and mechanisms of action of antipsychotic drugs. *Mol. Psychiatry* 2005, *10*, 79-104.
- (37) Carpenter, W. T.; Kirkpatrick, B. The heterogeneity of the long-term course of schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Bull.* 1988, *14*, 645-52.
- (38) Kane, J. M. Schizophrenia. N. Engl. J. Med. 1996, 334, 34-41.
- (39) Lewis, D. A.; Lieberman, J. A. Catching up on schizophrenia: natural history and neurobiology. *Neuron* 2000, *28*, 325-34.
- (40) Wahlbeck, K.; Cheine, M.; Essali, M. A. Clozapine versus typical neuroleptic medication for schizophrenia. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 2000, CD000059.
- (41) Bagnall, A.; Jones, L.; Ginnelly, L.; Lewis, R.; Glanville, J.; Gilbody, S.; Davies, L.; Torgerson, D.; Kleijnen, J. A systematic review of atypical antipsychotic drugs in schizophrenia. *Health Technol. Assess.* 2003, 7, 1-193.
- (42) Roth, B. L.; Sheffler, D. J.; Kroeze, W. K. Magic shotguns versus magic bullets: selectively non-selective drugs for mood disorders and schizophrenia. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 2004, *3*, 353-9.
- (43) Richtand, N. M.; Welge, J. A.; Logue, A. D.; Keck, P. E.; Strakowski, S. M.; McNamara, R. K. Dopamine and serotonin receptor binding and antipsychotic efficacy. *Neuropsychopharmacol.* 2007, *32*, 1715-26.
- (44) Newcomer, J. W. Metabolic considerations in the use of antipsychotic medications: a review of recent evidence. *J. Clin. Psychiatry* 2007, *68 Suppl* 1, 20-7.
- (45) Consensus development conference on antipsychotic drugs and obesity and diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 2004, 27, 596-601.
- (46) Lieberman, J. A.; Johns, C. A.; Kane, J. M.; Rai, K.; Pisciotta, A. V.; Saltz, B. L.; Howard, A. Clozapine-induced agranulocytosis: noncross-reactivity with other psychotropic drugs. *J. Clin. Psychiatry* 1988, 49, 271-7.

- (47) Creese, I.; Burt, D. R.; Snyder, S. H. Dopamine receptor binding predicts clinical and pharmacological potencies of antischizophrenic drugs. *Science* 1976, *192*, 481-3.
- (48) Seeman, P.; Lee, T.; Chau-Wong, M.; Wong, K. Antipsychotic drug doses and neuroleptic/dopamine receptors. *Nature* 1976, *261*, 717-9.
- (49) Meltzer, H. Y.; Matsubara, S.; Lee, J. C. Classification of typical and atypical antipsychotic drugs on the basis of dopamine D-1, D-2 and serotonin2 pKi values. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 1989, *251*, 238-46.
- (50) Lecourtier, L.; Homayoun, H.; Tamagnan, G.; Moghaddam, B. Positive Allosteric Modulation of Metabotropic Glutamate 5 (mGlu5) Receptors Reverses N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Antagonist-Induced Alteration of Neuronal Firing in Prefrontal Cortex. *Biol. Psychiatry* 2007, 62, 739-46.
- (51) Hauser, T. A.; Kucinski, A.; Jordan, K. G.; Gatto, G. J.; Wersinger, S. R.; Hesse, R. A.; Stachowiak, E. K.; Stachowiak, M. K.; Papke, R. L.; Lippiello, P. M.; Bencherif, M. TC-5619: an alpha7 neuronal nicotinic receptor-selective agonist that demonstrates efficacy in animal models of the positive and negative symptoms and cognitive dysfunction of schizophrenia. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 2009, *78*, 803-12.
- (52) Dawson, L. A.; Smith, P. W. Therapeutic utility of NK3 receptor antagonists for the treatment of schizophrenia. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 2010, *16*, 344-57.
- (53) Bristow, L. J.; Kramer, M. S.; Kulagowski, J.; Patel, S.; Ragan, C. I.; Seabrook, G. R. Schizophrenia and L-745,870, a novel dopamine D4 receptor antagonist. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 1997, *18*, 186-8.
- (54) Truffinet, P.; Tamminga, C. A.; Fabre, L. F.; Meltzer, H. Y.; Rivière, M. E.; Papillon-Downey, C. Placebo-controlled study of the D4/5-HT2A antagonist fananserin in the treatment of schizophrenia. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 1999, *156*, 419-25.
- (55) Kroeze, W. K.; Hufeisen, S. J.; Popadak, B. A.; Renock, S. M.; Steinberg, S.; Ernsberger, P.; Jayathilake, K.; Meltzer, H. Y.; Roth, B. L. H1-histamine receptor affinity predicts short-term weight gain for typical and atypical antipsychotic drugs. *Neuropsychopharmacol.* 2003, 28, 519-26.
- (56) Venter, J. C.; Adams, M. D.; Myers, E. W.; Li, P. W.; Mural, R. J.; Sutton, G. G.; Smith, H. O. et al. The sequence of the human genome. *Science* 2001, *291*, 1304-51.
- (57) Roth, B. L.; Lopez, E.; Beischel, S.; Westkaemper, R. B.; Evans, J. M. Screening the receptorome to discover the molecular targets for plantderived psychoactive compounds: a novel approach for CNS drug discovery. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 2004, *102*, 99-110.

- (58) Fredriksson, R.; Lagerström, M. C.; Lundin, L.; Schiöth, H. B. The Gprotein-coupled receptors in the human genome form five main families. Phylogenetic analysis, paralogon groups, and fingerprints. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 2003, *63*, 1256-72.
- (59) Gloriam, D. E.; Fredriksson, R.; Schiöth, H. B. The G protein-coupled receptor subset of the rat genome. *BMC Genomics* 2007, *8*, 338.
- (60) Lagerström, M. C.; Schiöth, H. B. Structural diversity of G proteincoupled receptors and significance for drug discovery. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 2008, 7, 339-57.
- (61) Gether, U. Uncovering molecular mechanisms involved in activation of G protein-coupled receptors. *Endocr. Rev.* 2000, *21*, 90-113.
- (62) Ballesteros, J. A.; Weinstein, H. In *Receptor Molecular Biology*; Academic Press, 1995; Vol. Volume 25, pp. 366-428.
- (63) Krebs, A.; Villa, C.; Edwards, P. C.; Schertler, G. F. Characterisation of an improved two-dimensional p22121 crystal from bovine rhodopsin. *J. Mol. Biol.* 1998, *282*, 991-1003.
- (64) Schertler, G. F.; Villa, C.; Henderson, R. Projection structure of rhodopsin. *Nature* 1993, *362*, 770-2.
- (65) Palczewski, K.; Kumasaka, T.; Hori, T.; Behnke, C. A.; Motoshima, H.; Fox, B. A.; Le Trong, I.; Teller, D. C.; Okada, T.; Stenkamp, R. E.; Yamamoto, M.; Miyano, M. Crystal structure of rhodopsin: A G protein-coupled receptor. *Science* 2000, *289*, 739-45.
- (66) Okada, T.; Fujiyoshi, Y.; Silow, M.; Navarro, J.; Landau, E. M.; Shichida, Y. Functional role of internal water molecules in rhodopsin revealed by X-ray crystallography. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A* 2002, *99*, 5982-7.
- (67) Okada, T.; Sugihara, M.; Bondar, A.; Elstner, M.; Entel, P.; Buss, V. The retinal conformation and its environment in rhodopsin in light of a new 2.2 A crystal structure. *J. Mol. Biol.* 2004, *342*, 571-83.
- (68) Teller, D. C.; Okada, T.; Behnke, C. A.; Palczewski, K.; Stenkamp, R. E. Advances in determination of a high-resolution three-dimensional structure of rhodopsin, a model of G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs). *Biochemistry* 2001, 40, 7761-72.
- (69) Cherezov, V.; Rosenbaum, D. M.; Hanson, M. A.; Rasmussen, S. G. F.; Thian, F. S.; Kobilka, T. S.; Choi, H.; Kuhn, P.; Weis, W. I.; Kobilka, B. K.; Stevens, R. C. High-resolution crystal structure of an engineered human beta2-adrenergic G protein-coupled receptor. *Science* 2007, *318*, 1258-65.
- (70) Rasmussen, S. G. F.; Choi, H.; Rosenbaum, D. M.; Kobilka, T. S.; Thian, F. S.; Edwards, P. C.; Burghammer, M.; Ratnala, V. R. P.; Sanishvili, R.; Fischetti, R. F.; Schertler, G. F. X.; Weis, W. I.;

Kobilka, B. K. Crystal structure of the human beta2 adrenergic G-protein-coupled receptor. *Nature* 2007, *450*, 383-7.

- (71) Hanson, M. A.; Cherezov, V.; Griffith, M. T.; Roth, C. B.; Jaakola, V.; Chien, E. Y. T.; Velasquez, J.; Kuhn, P.; Stevens, R. C. A specific cholesterol binding site is established by the 2.8 A structure of the human beta2-adrenergic receptor. *Structure* 2008, *16*, 897-905.
- (72) Warne, T.; Serrano-Vega, M. J.; Baker, J. G.; Moukhametzianov, R.; Edwards, P. C.; Henderson, R.; Leslie, A. G. W.; Tate, C. G.; Schertler, G. F. X. Structure of a beta1-adrenergic G-protein-coupled receptor. *Nature* 2008, 454, 486-91.
- (73) Jaakola, V.; Griffith, M. T.; Hanson, M. A.; Cherezov, V.; Chien, E. Y. T.; Lane, J. R.; Ijzerman, A. P.; Stevens, R. C. The 2.6 angstrom crystal structure of a human A2A adenosine receptor bound to an antagonist. *Science* 2008, *322*, 1211-7.
- (74) Hanson, M. A.; Stevens, R. C. Discovery of new GPCR biology: one receptor structure at a time. *Structure* 2009, *17*, 8-14.
- (75) Vaidehi, N.; Pease, J. E.; Horuk, R. Modeling small moleculecompound binding to G-protein-coupled receptors. *Meth. Enzymol.* 2009, 460, 263-88.
- (76) Vogel, R.; Mahalingam, M.; Lüdeke, S.; Huber, T.; Siebert, F.; Sakmar, T. P. Functional role of the "ionic lock"--an interhelical hydrogen-bond network in family A heptahelical receptors. *J. Mol. Biol.* 2008, 380, 648-55.
- (77) Bond, R. A.; Ijzerman, A. P. Recent developments in constitutive receptor activity and inverse agonism, and their potential for GPCR drug discovery. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 2006, *27*, 92-6.
- (78) Barak, L. S.; Ménard, L.; Ferguson, S. S.; Colapietro, A. M.; Caron, M. G. The conserved seven-transmembrane sequence NP(X)2,3Y of the G-protein-coupled receptor superfamily regulates multiple properties of the beta 2-adrenergic receptor. *Biochemistry* 1995, 34, 15407-14.
- (79) Shi, L.; Liapakis, G.; Xu, R.; Guarnieri, F.; Ballesteros, J. A.; Javitch, J. A. Beta2 adrenergic receptor activation. Modulation of the proline kink in transmembrane 6 by a rotamer toggle switch. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2002, 277, 40989-96.
- (80) Mirzadegan, T.; Benkö, G.; Filipek, S.; Palczewski, K. Sequence analyses of G-protein-coupled receptors: similarities to rhodopsin. *Biochemistry* 2003, 42, 2759-67.
- (81) Wess, J.; Maggio, R.; Palmer, J. R.; Vogel, Z. Role of conserved threonine and tyrosine residues in acetylcholine binding and muscarinic receptor activation. A study with m3 muscarinic receptor

point mutants. J. Biol. Chem. 1992, 267, 19313-9.

- (82) Kristiansen, K. Molecular mechanisms of ligand binding, signaling, and regulation within the superfamily of G-protein-coupled receptors: molecular modeling and mutagenesis approaches to receptor structure and function. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 2004, *103*, 21-80.
- (83) Swaminath, G.; Xiang, Y.; Lee, T. W.; Steenhuis, J.; Parnot, C.; Kobilka, B. K. Sequential binding of agonists to the beta2 adrenoceptor. Kinetic evidence for intermediate conformational states. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2004, 279, 686-91.
- (84) Rosenbaum, D. M.; Rasmussen, S. G. F.; Kobilka, B. K. The structure and function of G-protein-coupled receptors. *Nature* 2009, 459, 356-63.
- (85) Nygaard, R.; Frimurer, T. M.; Holst, B.; Rosenkilde, M. M.; Schwartz, T. W. Ligand binding and micro-switches in 7TM receptor structures. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 2009, *30*, 249-59.
- (86) Sprang, S. R. G protein mechanisms: insights from structural analysis. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 1997, *66*, 639-78.
- (87) Flower, D. R. Modelling G-protein-coupled receptors for drug design. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1999, *1422*, 207-34.
- (88) Lefkowitz, R. J.; Shenoy, S. K. Transduction of receptor signals by beta-arrestins. *Science* 2005, *308*, 512-7.
- (89) Luttrell, L. M.; Lefkowitz, R. J. The role of beta-arrestins in the termination and transduction of G-protein-coupled receptor signals. J. Cell. Sci. 2002, 115, 455-65.
- (90) Azzi, M.; Charest, P. G.; Angers, S.; Rousseau, G.; Kohout, T.; Bouvier, M.; Piñeyro, G. Beta-arrestin-mediated activation of MAPK by inverse agonists reveals distinct active conformations for G proteincoupled receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A* 2003, *100*, 11406-11.
- (91) Kenakin, T. Ligand-selective receptor conformations revisited: the promise and the problem. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 2003, *24*, 346-54.
- (92) Samama, P.; Cotecchia, S.; Costa, T.; Lefkowitz, R. J. A mutationinduced activated state of the beta 2-adrenergic receptor. Extending the ternary complex model. *J. Biol. Chem.* 1993, *268*, 4625-36.
- (93) Kobilka, B. K.; Deupi, X. Conformational complexity of G-proteincoupled receptors. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 2007, *28*, 397-406.
- (94) Nicolau, D. V.; Burrage, K.; Parton, R. G.; Hancock, J. F. Identifying optimal lipid raft characteristics required to promote nanoscale protein-protein interactions on the plasma membrane. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 2006, *26*, 313-23.
- (95) Simons, K.; Vaz, W. L. C. Model systems, lipid rafts, and cell membranes. *Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct.* 2004, *33*, 269-95.

- (96) Barnett-Norris, J.; Lynch, D.; Reggio, P. H. Lipids, lipid rafts and caveolae: their importance for GPCR signaling and their centrality to the endocannabinoid system. *Life Sci.* 2005, 77, 1625-39.
- (97) Allen, J. A.; Halverson-Tamboli, R. A.; Rasenick, M. M. Lipid raft microdomains and neurotransmitter signalling. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 2007, *8*, 128-40.
- (98) Fitzgerald, G. A. Opinion: anticipating change in drug development: the emerging era of translational medicine and therapeutics. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 2005, *4*, 815-8.
- (99) Bissantz, C.; Bernard, P.; Hibert, M.; Rognan, D. Protein-based virtual screening of chemical databases. II. Are homology models of G-Protein Coupled Receptors suitable targets? *Proteins* 2003, *50*, 5-25.
- (100) Costanzi, S. On the applicability of GPCR homology models to computer-aided drug discovery: a comparison between in silico and crystal structures of the beta2-adrenergic receptor. J. Med. Chem. 2008, 51, 2907-14.
- (101) Martí-Renom, M. A.; Stuart, A. C.; Fiser, A.; Sánchez, R.; Melo, F.; Sali, A. Comparative protein structure modeling of genes and genomes. *Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct* .2000, *29*, 291-325.
- (102) Selent, J.; López, L.; Sanz, F.; Pastor, M. Multi-receptor binding profile of clozapine and olanzapine: a structural study based on the new beta2 adrenergic receptor template. *ChemMedChem* 2008, *3*, 1194-8.
- (103) Michino, M.; Abola, E.; Brooks, C. L.; Dixon, J. S.; Moult, J.; Stevens, R. C. Community-wide assessment of GPCR structure modelling and ligand docking: GPCR Dock 2008. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 2009, *8*, 455-63.
- (104) Thompson, J. D.; Gibson, T. J.; Plewniak, F.; Jeanmougin, F.; Higgins, D. G. The CLUSTAL_X windows interface: flexible strategies for multiple sequence alignment aided by quality analysis tools. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 1997, 25, 4876-82.
- (105) Thompson, J. D.; Higgins, D. G.; Gibson, T. J. CLUSTAL W: improving the sensitivity of progressive multiple sequence alignment through sequence weighting, position-specific gap penalties and weight matrix choice. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 1994, *22*, 4673-80.
- (106) Forster, M. J. Molecular modelling in structural biology. *Micron* 2002, *33*, 365-84.
- (107) Cavasotto, C. N.; Phatak, S. S. Homology modeling in drug discovery: current trends and applications. *Drug Discov. Today* 2009, *14*, 676-83.
- (108) Sali, A.; Blundell, T. L. Comparative protein modelling by satisfaction of spatial restraints. *J. Mol. Biol.* 1993, 234, 779-815.

- (109) Mehler, E. L.; Periole, X.; Hassan, S. A.; Weinstein, H. Key issues in the computational simulation of GPCR function: representation of loop domains. *J. Comput. Aided Mol. Des.* 2002, *16*, 841-53.
- (110) Cornell, W.; Cieplak,, P.; Bayly, C.; Gould, I.; Merz, K.; Ferguson, D.; Sepellmeyer, D. A second generation force field for the simulation of proteins, nucleic acids, ang organic molecules. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1995, *117*, 5179-97.
- (111) Laskowski, R.; MacArthur, M.; Moss, D.; Thornton, J. PROCHECK: A program to check the sterochemical quality of protein structures. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* 26, 283-91.
- (112) Schwartz, T. W.; Frimurer, T. M.; Holst, B.; Rosenkilde, M. M.; Elling, C. E. Molecular mechanism of 7TM receptor activation--a global toggle switch model. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 2006, 46, 481-519.
- (113) Park, J. H.; Scheerer, P.; Hofmann, K. P.; Choe, H.; Ernst, O. P. Crystal structure of the ligand-free G-protein-coupled receptor opsin. *Nature* 2008, 454, 183-7.
- (114) Totrov, M.; Abagyan, R. Protein-Ligand Docking as an Energy Optimization Problem. *Drug-Receptor Thermodynamics: Introduction* and Applications Editor: R.B. Raffa John Wiley & Sons 2001, 603-24
- (115) Kuntz, I.; Meng, E.; Shoichet, B. Structure-based molecular design. *Accounts of Chemical Research* 1994, 27, 117-23.
- (116) Ha, S.; Andreani, R.; Robbins, A.; Muegge, I. Evaluation of docking/scoring approaches: a comparative study based on MMP3 inhibitors. J. Comput. Aided Mol. Des. 2000, 14, 435-48.
- (117) Verdonk, M. L.; Cole, J. C.; Hartshorn, M. J.; Murray, C. W.; Taylor, R. D. Improved protein-ligand docking using GOLD. *Proteins* 2003, 52, 609-23.
- (118) Goodford, P. J. A computational procedure for determining energetically favorable binding sites on biologically important macromolecules. J. Med. Chem. 1985, 28, 849-57.
- (119) Cramer, R.; Patterson, D.; Bunce, J. Comparative molecular field analysis (CoMFA). 1. Effect of shape on binding of steroids to carrier proteins. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1988, *110*, 5959-67.
- (120) Cruciani, G.; Watson, K. A. Comparative molecular field analysis using GRID force-field and GOLPE variable selection methods in a study of inhibitors of glycogen phosphorylase b. J. Med. Chem. 1994, 37, 2589-601.
- (121) Pastor, M.; Cruciani, G.; McLay, I.; Pickett, S.; Clementi, S. GRid-INdependent descriptors (GRIND): a novel class of alignmentindependent three-dimensional molecular descriptors. *J. Med. Chem.*

2000, 43, 3233-43.

- (122) Fontaine, F.; Pastor, M.; Sanz, F. Incorporating molecular shape into the alignment-free Grid-Independent Descriptors. J. Med. Chem. 2004, 47, 2805-15.
- (123) Durán, A.; Zamora, I.; Pastor, M. Suitability of GRIND-based principal properties for the description of molecular similarity and ligand-based virtual screening. *J. Chem. Inf. Model.* 2009, *49*, 2129-38.
- (124) Pentacle; Molecular Discovery Ltd: Perugia, Italy, 2009
- (125) Box, G.; Hunter, W.; Hunter, S.; Hunter, W. *Statistics for experimenters: an introduction to design, data analysis, and model building*; Wiley-Interscience, 1978.
- (126) Wold, S.; Esbensen, K.; Geladi, P. Principal component analysis. *Chemometrics Intellig.Lab.Syst.* 2, 37-52.
- (127) De Maesschalck, R.; Jouan-Rimbaud, D.; Massart, D. The Mahalanobis distance. *Chemometrics Intellig.Lab.Syst.* 2000, *50*, 1-18.
- (128) Geladi, P.; Kowalski, B. Partial least-squares regression: a tutorial. *Anal.Chim.Acta* 1986, 185, 1.
- (129) Lindgren, F. Third generation PLS. Some elements and applications. Solfjadern Offset AB. Umeå: Umeå University 1994.
- (130) Pastor, M.; Cruciani, G. A novel strategy for improving ligand selectivity in receptor-based drug design. J. Med. Chem. 1995, 38, 4637-47.
- (131) GOLPE 4.6.0; Multivariate Infometric Análisis, 2003.
- (132) Kastenholz, M. A.; Pastor, M.; Cruciani, G.; Haaksma, E. E.; Fox, T. GRID/CPCA: a new computational tool to design selective ligands. J. Med. Chem. 2000, 43, 3033-44.
- (133) Mansour, A.; Meng, F.; Meador-Woodruff, J. H.; Taylor, L. P.; Civelli, O.; Akil, H. Site-directed mutagenesis of the human dopamine D2 receptor. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 1992, 227, 205-14.
- (134) Wang, C. D.; Gallaher, T. K.; Shih, J. C. Site-directed mutagenesis of the serotonin 5-hydroxytrypamine2 receptor: identification of amino acids necessary for ligand binding and receptor activation. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 1993, 43, 931-40.